**Charles University** 

#### **Faculty of Science**

Study programme: Immunology



Mgr. Tomáš Brabec

Immune-epithelial interactions in the multilayered model of intestinal homeostasis

Interakce mezi epiteliálními a imunitními buňkami v mnohovrstvém modelu střevní homeostázy

Type of thesis

Doctoral thesis

Supervisor: RNDr. Dominik Filipp, CSc.

Consultant: Jan Dobeš, PhD

Prague, 2023

### **Declaration:**

I hereby declare that this thesis is a presentation of my original research, where I referenced all the relevant literary sources. I also state that neither this work, nor its substantial part, was used for the award of academic degree or diploma in the past.

Prague, 4.5.2023

### Prohlášení:

Prohlašuji, že jsem závěrečnou práci zpracoval samostatně a že jsem uvedl všechny použité informační zdroje a literaturu. Tato práce ani její podstatná část nebyla předložena k získání jiného nebo stejného akademického titulu.

V Praze, 4.5.2023

Podpis (Signature):

### Acknowledgments

I would like to sincerely thank everyone who helped me during my Ph.D. studies. First, I would like to thank Dominik Filipp for allowing me to work in his laboratory and for his valuable advice, discussions, and supervision in general. I am grateful for the friendly work environment and for much advice given by all my lab mates. I would like to highlight my gratitude to Jan Dobeš for fostering my first steps in immunology, helping me with methods, critical discussion of papers and general mentorship. Also, I would like to point out our great collaboration with Matouš Vobořil and Jiří Březina, both of whom helped me greatly to appreciate the indispensable role played by thymic processes in intestinal immunology. From my collaborators outside of laboratory of Dominik Filipp, I would like to thank Martin Schwarzer for a smooth and very efficient cooperation, while working on microbiota transfer experiments, as well as Dagmar Schierova for providing me with her expertise with microbiota sequencing. I would also like to acknowledge the help of all the great people form core facilities of the Institute of Molecular Genetics of the Czech Academy of Sciences in Prague, Jan Kuboviak, Michal Kolář and Šárka Kocourková for providing their expertise with RNA sequencing, Zdeněk Cimbůrek and Matyáš Šíma for their help with FACS sorting, and Kateřina Ševčíková and Romana Šustrová as well as all the rest of mouse handling team for taking great care of our mice and dealing with our last minute requests. Furthermore, I am thankful to Domink Filipp, Jan Dobeš, Evgeny Valter, Jiří Březina, Matouš Vobořil and Martin Schwarzer for the critical reading of this thesis. Last but certainly not least I want to thank my wife Klára Brabcová for her support, love and patience. She helped me through many long discussions, particularly in the darkest times of my Ph.D. and without her I would have likely quit science a long time ago.

#### Abstract

The intestinal immune system is constantly faced with a vast variety of foreign antigens from food and commensal microbiota on top of intestinal self-antigens. To prevent pathology, the immune system developed multiple mechanisms to tolerate these harmless antigens. These mechanisms use a collaboration of thymic T-cell selection and intestinal homeostatic processes. At the same time, intestinal microbiota must be tightly controlled to prevent its overgrowth, which can lead to pathology. Thus, the intestinal immune system must use a combination of tolerogenic and immunogenic responses and keep them in equilibrium. In this thesis I first provide an overview of the current state of knowledge of these processes and then I present several original studies in which I have participated. First and foremost, in the study that is central to this thesis, we have shown that IL-17-mediated stimulation of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions is one of the important mechanisms of immune-mediated control of commensal microbiota and its perturbation results in intestinal pathology susceptibility. Additionally, I have participated in several other studies, which in combination extend the view of intestinal homeostasis, integrating intestine-specific processes with thymic T-cell selection and reactions to pathobionts. One of these studies identified a novel mechanism that ensures proper thymic T-cells selection, through the transfer of antigens from thymic epithelium to a specific population of CD14<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells. In a follow-up study, we described the complexity of the cellular network that participates in this mode of antigen transfer in the thymus. In another study, we identified a population of Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells that were later found to play a crucial role in immune response to mucosal pathobiont Candida albicans. Here I discuss our original findings with previously published results, to deliver a multilayered model of establishment and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis.

### Abstrakt (CZ)

Střevní imunitní systém musí neustále čelit obrovskému množství cizorodých antigenů z potravy a komenzální mikroflóry, mimo střevních tělu vlastních antigenů. Imunitní systém vyvinul množství mechanismů pro toleranci těchto neškodných antigenů, aby předešel patologii. Tyto mechanismy využívají spolupráce selekce T-buněk v brzlíku s homeostatickými mechanismy ve střevě. Zároveň je však nutno kontrolovat střevní mikroflóru, která by jinak mohla přerůstat, což může vést k patologii. Proto musí imunitní systém střeva využívat kombinaci tolerogenních a imunogenních odpovědí a udržovat je v rovnováze. V této disertační práci nejdříve shrnuji přehled současného stavu poznání těchto procesů a dále představím několik originálních studií kterých jsem se účastnil. V první řadě, v centrální studii této práce jsme ukázali, že IL-17 zprostředkovaná stimulace antimikrobiálních funkcí Panetových buněk je jedním z důležitých imunitních mechanismů kontroly střevní mikroflóry a porušení tohoto mechanismu vede k náchylnosti ke střevní patologii. Dále jsem se účastnil několika dalších studií, které společně rozšiřují pohled na střevní homeostázu a integrují procesy specifické pro střevo se selekcí T-buněk v brzlíku a reakcemi na pathobionty. Jedna z těchto prací identifikovala nový mechanismus, který zajišťuje správnou selekci T-buněk v brzlíku, skrze předávání antigenů z brzlíkového epitelu na specifickou populaci CD14<sup>+</sup> dendritických buněk. V navazující práci jsme popsali komplexitu sítě buněk, které se účastní tohoto způsobu předávání antigenů. V další studii jsme identifikovali populaci Aire<sup>+</sup> buněk podobných ILC3, které byli později popsány jako zásadní regulátoři imunitní odpovědi proti slizničnímu pathobiontovi Candida albicans. V této práci diskutuji naše výsledky s dříve publikovanými studiemi a představuji mnohovrstevný model ustavení a udržování střevní homeostázy.

## Table of contents

Acknowledgments
Abstract
Abstrakt (CZ)
Table of contents7
List of abbreviations
Introduction
Current state of knowledge
Immune tolerance
Central tolerance
Tolerance to food and commensal antigens16
Tolerate or respond?
Spatiotemporal map of intestinal homeostasis
Breakdown of intestinal homeostasis
Summary
Thesis aims
Results
IL-17 driven induction of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions protects the host from microbiota
dysbiosis and inflammation in the ileum
Toll-like receptor signaling in thymic epithelium controls monocyte-derived dendritic cell
recruitment and Treg generation42
A model of preferential pairing between epithelial and dendritic cells in thymic antigen transfer.
A novel conditional Aire allele enables cell-specific ablation of the immune tolerance regulator
A nover conditional Are ancie chaptes cen-specific ablation of the minimum tolerance regulator
Aire-expressing ILC3-like cells in the lymph node display potent APC features
Microbe-mediated intestinal NOD2 stimulation improves linear growth of undernourished infant
mice
Discussion and conclusions
References

## List of abbreviations

aDCs	Activated dendritic cells
APCs	Antigen presenting cells
APS-1	Autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type-1
CAT	Cooperative antigen transfer
CD	Crohn's disease
cDC	Conventional dendritic cells
cDC1	Conventional dendritic cells type-1
cDC2	Conventional dendritic cells type-2
СМС	Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis
DCs	Dendritic cells
FAE	Follicle-associated epithelium
GAPs	Goblet cell associated passages
GWAS	Genome-wide association study
IBD	Inflammatory bowel diseases
ILC3s	Innate lymphoid cells type-3
IPEX	Immunodysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked
M-cells	Microfold cells
MHCI	Major histocompatibility complex I
MHCII	Major histocompatibility complex II
mLNs	Mesenteric lymph nodes
mTECs	Medullary thymic epithelial cells
pDCs	Plasmacytoid dendritic cells
PPs	Payer's patches
PCs	Paneth cells
scRNA-seq	Single cell RNA sequencing
SFB	Segmented filamentous bacteria
TCR	T-cell receptor
TEDs	Trans-endothelial dendrites
Th17	Helper T-cell type-17
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TRAs	Tissue restricted antigens
Tregs	Regulatory T-cells
UC	Ulcerative colitis

#### Introduction

The primary function of the immune system is to protect the organism from invading pathogens. However, to perform this function without hurting the host, it is essential to distinguish pathogens from body-own tissues. On top of body-own tissues immune system needs to tolerate plethora of other antigens coming from harmless sources such as food, air-born particles, and commensal microbiota. Crucial importance of these process can be illustrated by the development of severe autoimmune disorders when tolerance to self-antigens is disrupted, food allergies when tolerance to food antigens is disrupted, and inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) when tolerance to intestinal microbiota is disrupted.

In the case of commensal microbiota, the situation is extremely complex, since immune system needs to distinguish between microbes able to cause damage to the host (pathogens), from those that are harmless (commensals), despite the fact that those two groups share majority of their molecular patterns. Furthermore, unlike antigens from body-own tissues and food which pose no danger to the host, antigens from commensal microbiota cannot be simply ignored since this could lead to the overgrowth of the microbe even in the case of commensals (Kumar et al., 2016). Thus, immune homeostasis in the intestine, which contains the largest reservoir of foreign antigens coming from harmless sources on top of intestinal self-antigens, is arguably one of the most complex topics in the immunology field. While most food antigens are localized there, the intestine also contains the largest variety of commensal microbiota, unmatched anywhere else in the body.

Throughout my Ph.D. studies I have focused on various aspects of intestinal immune homeostasis, ranging from thymic T-cell selection to antimicrobial effector mechanisms executed by Paneth cells (PCs). I participated in several studies that highlighted the central role of epithelial-immune interactions in this process, starting from the cooperation of thymic epithelial cells with thymic dendritic cells (DCs) and ending with the immune-mediated stimulation of PC antimicrobial functions. In this thesis, I will first summarize scientific knowledge of processes that enable immune homeostasis in the intestine, then I will present studies in which I participated and finally I will discuss the overall context of my results in the broader scope of the field.

### Current state of knowledge

#### **Immune tolerance**

Immune tolerance is a state in which the immune system does not respond to a potential trigger either by active inhibition of immune responses or by simple ignorance. Since the antigen receptors, i.e. Tcell receptors (TCR) and B-cells receptors are generated by a stochastic process (Klein et al., 2014), it is crucial to eliminate or suppress clones recognizing antigens from harmless sources. Vertebrates evolved a multistep mechanism that mediates this process. The intestine contains both self- and food/commensal-derived antigens, which need to be tolerated by the immune system, thus it needs to utilize additional tolerance mechanisms to those used in other tissues. I will describe these mechanisms in a stepwise manner, starting from the central tolerance, followed by the description of intestinespecific mechanisms.

#### **Central tolerance**

#### Medullary thymic epithelial cells

Central tolerance takes place in the thymus, where T-cells develop and its primary aim is to eliminate T-cell clones, which recognize antigens from body-own tissues. The principal problem of thymic T-cell selection lies in the necessity to physically present all self-antigens directly in the thymus, in order to ensure deletion of self-reactive T-cells. This issue is particularly important for antigens that are typically restricted to specific tissues in the immune periphery, so called tissue restricted antigens (TRA), such as pancreatic insulin. It was long a mystery, how thymic selection can eliminate TRA-reactive T-cells. Strikingly, it was discovered that medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) can express almost complete protein coding genome, thus they generate a "shadow" of the immune periphery directly inside the thymus (Anderson et al., 2002). This incredible gene expression property of mTECs is largely enabled by a unique transcription regulator protein Autoimmune regulator (Aire) (Anderson et al., 2002; Consortium, 1997; Nagamine et al., 1997), which stochastically activates expression of suppressed genes, leading to promiscuous expression of silenced genes (Bansal et al., 2017; Brennecke et al., 2015; Meredith et al., 2015).

Once, T-cell recognizes an antigen presented in the context of major histocompatibity complex class I and II (MHCI and II) on mTEC surface, it is either directly eliminated (Hinterberger et al., 2010; Liston et al., 2003; Surh and Sprent, 1994) or it is diverted to regulatory T-cell lineage (Treg) (Aschenbrenner et al., 2007; Malchow et al., 2016), which suppress inflammatory immune responses in the periphery (Bennett et al., 2001; Fontenot et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2007). In either case, self-specific T-cell is thus eliminated from the repertoire of conventional T-cells that are allowed to exit the thymus and participate in the immune patrolling of the peripheral tissues. Since mTECs produce TRAs endogenously, it enables them to eliminate self-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells by presentation of TRA peptides

on MHCI. However, mTECs are also endowed with the ability to utilize endogenously expressed TRAs for the MHCII-dependent presentation to the developing CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, even though MHCII classically presents exogenous antigens. Mechanistically, this is achieved by autophagy, which enables mTECs to deliver endogenous proteins to the endosomal compartment, where MHCII is being loaded with antigens. This enables mTECs to directly eliminate self-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells or to divert them to Treg lineage (Nedjic et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2013).

Avidity model. It was postulated that the decision between clonal deletion, diversion to Treg linage and classic conventional T-cell development is achieved by the combination of TCR affinity to selfantigen-MHC complex and the abundance of the antigen in thymus, which together constitute antigen-MHC-TCR avidity. In this model self-reactive clones with intermediate affinity and/or low antigen availability are destined to become regulatory T-cells (Tregs), while high affinity clones reactive to antigens ubiquitously expressed in the thymus are destined to be clonally deleted (Klein et al., 2014). Indeed, it was experimentally proven that: 1) TCR affinity dictates negative selection vs. generation of Treg (Jordan et al., 2001; Relland et al., 2009; Simons et al., 2010), 2) tolerance to ubiquitous antigens is mediated by clonal deletion, while tolerance to TRAs is rather mediated by the generation of Tregs (Legoux et al., 2015; Malhotra et al., 2016). On the top of the avidity, other mechanisms, such as costimulatory molecules context, participate in fate decision between clonal deletion and Treg selection (Klein et al., 2019). Thus, T-cells that pose the highest danger to cause autoimmunity (high affinity and/or reactive to ubiquitous antigens) are never allowed to leave the thymus, while T-cell with mild and/or tissue-restricted self-reactivity are exploited to prevent autoimmune reactions by their diversion to Treg lineage. In the periphery Tregs use a number of immunosuppressive mechanisms, such as the production of immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10, TGF $\beta$ ) and direct suppression of antigen presenting cells.

#### **Cooperative antigen transfer**

Although mTECs are crucial players in the thymic selection of self-specific T-cells their numbers are limited. Furthermore, it was shown that although mTECs as a population indeed express almost all the possible TRAs, one mTEC expresses only a small fraction of TRA repertoire and as a result each individual TRA is expressed only by 1-3% of mTECs at a given point of time (Brennecke et al., 2015; Meredith et al., 2015). Thus, the availability of TRA antigens would be very low if only mTECs would carry out TRA presentation. On the top of this scattered TRA expression, recent studies demonstrated that mTECs are able to generate so called "mimetic" lineages in the thymus. These distinct yet rare cells represent thymic counterparts of specialized cell types in the periphery. Thus, thymus contains for example cells resembling skin corneocytes, intestinal microfold cells (M-cells) or intestinal tuft cells (Bornstein et al., 2018; Michelson et al., 2022; Miller et al., 2018). Nevertheless, the ability of these

cells to process and present antigens and thus their direct contribution to the T-cell selection remains unclear.

To compensate for low availability of TRAs, mTEC-produced antigens are recycled in a process called cooperative antigen transfer (CAT) (Koble and Kyewski, 2009). In this process, thymic DCs acquire mTEC-produced antigens and present them to developing thymocytes. Importantly, it was demonstrated that CAT functionally contributes to central tolerance (Leventhal et al., 2016; Perry et al., 2014; Perry et al., 2018). While not studied so far, the above described mimetic mTECs could serve as an ideal source of antigens for CAT, since they accumulate peripheral antigens in high amounts, but their intrinsic ability to present antigens is unclear. However, molecular mechanisms which regulate CAT as well as the complexity of cellular network, which participates in CAT are poorly understood. To demonstrate this issue, I will start by the description of thymic DC populations, which serve the purpose of putative CAT recipients. Next, I will summarize the current knowledge of mechanisms regulating CAT.

**DC** heterogeneity in the thymus. DCs were classically divided to plasmacytoid (pDC) and classical (cDC) ones. However, it should be noted that the identity of pDCs as members of DC lineage is disputed (Reizis et al., 2023; Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2023a; Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2023b). cDCs are further subdivided to type-1 (cDC1) and type-2 (cDC2). cDC1 are marked by their unique expression of XCR1 chemokine receptor and they possess a unique ability to perform cross presentation, which enables them to present exogenous antigens to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the context of MHCI (Belz et al., 2002; den Haan et al., 2000). cDC2 on the other hand are functionally and phenotypically closer to macrophage lineage and they share many of classic monocyte/macrophage markers, such as CD11b and Sirpα. While phenotypically similar, another category of so called monocyte-derived DCs (moDC) can be defined (Fig. 1) (Liu et al., 2021). These cells carry a combination of bona fide monocyte/macrophage markers, such as CD14, Cx3cr1 and Csf1r, together with markers that define cDC lineage, such as Flt3. We were among the first to define the heterogeneity of thymic DCs in an unbiased single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) approach. Importantly, this enabled us to distinguish moDCs from cDC2 lineage both phenotypically and functionally (Vobořil et al., 2020).

We and others also identified another population of so called activated cDCs (aDCs), which are marked by the expression of Ccr7 (Breed et al., 2022; Park et al., 2020; Vobořil et al., 2020). We were able to identify two subpopulations of these aDCs, Xcr1<sup>+</sup> and Xcr1<sup>-</sup> (Vobořil et al., 2022), in agreement with other studies which used scRNA-seq approach (Breed et al., 2022; Park et al., 2020). While the origin of these cells is currently unknown, it seems likely that Xcr1<sup>+</sup> aDCs are ontogenically related to cDC1, due to their shared expression of Xcr1. In contrast, cDC2s likely contribute to thymic Xcr1<sup>-</sup> aDC gool, since the depletion of cDC2 leads to a drop in numbers of thymic Xcr1<sup>-</sup> aDCs (Breed et al., 2022).



**Figure 1. Heterogeneity of thymic APCs.** Reanalysis of publicly available sc RNA sequencing dataset (GEO database: GSE198247, Breed et al., 2022). Authors FACS sorted thymic APCs based on their positivity for either CD11c, CD11b or both. For the details of sample preparation see the original study. Here I show reanalysis of the original data using Seurat package (v 4.0.4) in R (v 4.1.1). **A**, UMAP visualization of all the cells after filtering of death cells (mitochondrial genes threshold 5%) showing basic cell type annotation. **B**, Violin plot showing expression of canonic cell type markers for basic cell types shown in A. C-F, Subclustering of cDC and Monocyte/Macrophage clusters. **C**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of subtypes of Monocyte/Macrophage and cDC lineages. **D**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between Monocyte/Macrophage lineage and cDC lineage. Note ubiquitous expression of *Itgax* (encoding CD11c) in both of those lineages. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between cDC sublineages. Note drop in the expression of classic cDC markers (*Itgax* – CD11c, *Itgae* – CD103) in a putative post-cDC subpopulation in contrast to their maintained expression of *FIt3*, arguing for their cDC identity. F, Scatter heatmaps of *Cd1d1* and *II15* expression. Note the accumulation of the signal in aDC2 population.

To illustrate the heterogeneity of thymic DCs and to demonstrate the power provided by recent advances in scRNA-seq method, I have performed reanalysis of publicly available dataset, originating from the aforementioned study (Breed et al., 2022) (Fig. 1). Interestingly, aDCs transcriptionally closer to cDC2 lineage show high expression of genes stimulated by IL-4 (Breed et al., 2022) (Fig. 1). As it was shown that both cDC2 and a portion of aDCs are dependent on thymic helper T-cell type-2 (Th2) cytokines (Breed et al., 2022), it seems plausible that this type of stimulation might contribute to the generation of Xcr1<sup>-</sup> aDCs from cDC2. Additionally, aDCs transcriptionally closer to cDC2 lineage also express high levels of CD1d (Fig. 1), nonclassical MHC molecule necessary for the presentation of lipid antigens to natural-killer (NK) T-cells (Sköld and Behar, 2003). Interestingly, the same population expresses high levels of IL-15, the major cytokine necessary for NKT development (Fig. 1). Since, thymic NKT cells are the major producers of IL-4 (Wang et al., 2019), it is likely that cDC2 and thymic NKT cells form a regulatory loop that ensures both NKT differentiation/maintenance and the activation of cDC2 that acquire aDC phenotype.

Furthermore, a population of DCs that downregulate classic DC markers (CD11c, CD103 encoded by *Itgax* and *Itgae*) can be defined (Fig. 1). While the function of these cells is currently unknown it is possible that these cells are the terminal differentiation of state of both cDC1 and cDC2 lineage. Importantly, due to the downregulation of markers, classically used for cDC definition, these cells were likely overlooked in most of the studies. Notably, a cell populations with similar expression patterns can be identified also in the intestine and intestine-draining lymph nodes (compare Fig. 1 and Fig. 2, also see section *Antigen presentation* in *Tolerance to food and commensal antigens*).

On the top of discrimination of aDC subpopulations and their expression patterns described above, the re-analysis, which I have performed allows the comparison of markers classically used for the discrimination between DC populations with other markers, that are expressed at higher levels and/or with higher specificity for the desired population (Fig. 1). This issue is discussed in detail on the example of the intestinal antigen presenting cells (APCs) in BOX2.

**Mechanisms regulating CAT.** CAT can be regulated on several levels. First, mTECs could actively attract potential antigen recipients by chemokines secretion. Second, DCs can express molecules that would allow them to efficiently uptake mTEC-derive antigens. However, as mentioned above, the knowledge of these mechanisms is currently only fragmental.

Importantly, in a study shown below, we identified one of the first described mTEC-intrinsic mechanisms that control CAT. We were able to show that mTECs use Toll-like receptors (TLRs) to increase their production of chemokines, which attract CD14<sup>+</sup> DCs to the thymus, where they acquire mTEC-derived antigens. This mechanism is then utilized to drive the generation of Tregs from developing thymocytes. Importantly, the disruption of mTECs' ability to signal through TLRs leads to generation of altered T-cell repertoire, which drives the development of colitis upon transfer to lymphopenic recipients (Vobořil et al., 2020).

Regarding the DC-intrinsic regulation of CAT, the only molecule participating in this process described so far is CD36, a scavenger receptor used specifically by thymic cDC1 to acquire mTEC-derived antigens (Perry et al., 2018). However, the deletion of CD36 on DCs leads only to a partial decrease in the acquisition of mTEC-derived antigens in cDC1 (Perry et al., 2018). Furthermore, while CD36 expression is restricted to cDC1 lineage, other thymic DC lineages are also able to acquire mTEC

derived antigens (Vobořil et al., 2020; Vobořil et al., 2022). Interestingly, depletion of thymic cDC2 and a portion of Xcr1<sup>-</sup> aDCs impacts thymic negative selection (Breed et al., 2022). However, it remains to be addressed if this effect is dependent on antigen acquisition from mTECs.

**aDCs in CAT.** In the aforementioned study we also found that not classically considered cDC1 or cDC2 population, but rather thymic aDCs are the most efficient DC population in antigen uptake from mTECs (Vobořil et al., 2022). Although both the ontogeny and function of aDC populations warrant further studies, it is tempting to hypothesize that aDCs are the progeny of cDCs, which acquired antigens from mTECs. If proven, this would pose aDCs as a principal player in the indirect presentation of mTEC-derived antigens. In support of this hypothesis, it was shown that phenotypically similar DC phenotype is mounted in the tumor after the engulfment of apoptotic cancer cells (Maier et al., 2020).

**Delivery of peripheral antigens.** Aside from mTEC-produced antigens, DCs can also deliver selfantigens from the immune periphery and utilize these antigens for T-cell selection in the thymus (Bonasio et al., 2006). Interestingly, pDCs express high levels of chemokine receptor CCR9, which allows them to migrate both to the intestine (Wendland et al., 2007) and to the thymus (Hadeiba et al., 2012). Although it was not directly shown, where in the body pDCs uptake antigens for thymic delivery, they are able to promote central tolerance (Hadeiba et al., 2012). While the specific role of cDC1 or cDC2 in the delivery of peripheral antigens to the thymus is unclear, it was shown that Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> APCs, presumably moDCs or marcophages, are able to uptake blood born antigens, by extending their dendrites though the endothelium of thymic blood vessels (Vollmann et al., 2021). Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> APCs are also able to migrate to the thymus from the intestine and participate in the activation of microbiota specific T-cells (Zegarra-Ruiz et al., 2021) (for more details see section *Induction of SFB-driven T-cell responses*).

In summary, central tolerance is a crucial process to set a baseline for intestinal homeostasis. mTECs and their ability to express a vast array of TRAs, which can be utilized to select developing T-cells, play a cardinal role in central tolerance. Although mTECs are able to directly present TRAs and select developing T-cells, indirect presentation of TRAs contributes to thymic T-cell selection. This process is executed by thymic DCs, through the acquisition of mTEC-produced antigens via CAT. Furthermore, DCs can deliver antigens from the immune periphery. Both direct and indirect presentation of mTEC-produced antigens, as well as the presentation of peripheral antigens, shape T-cell repertoire and protect the body from autoimmunity, thus preventing the disruption of homeostasis in all the tissues, including the intestine.

#### Tolerance to food and commensal antigens

Although majority of protein antigens in the intestinal lumen are digested to amino acids or dipeptides, considerable amount of undigested peptides and proteins translocate to the surrounding tissues (Brandtzaeg, 1998). Therefore, these antigens cannot be simply ignored, and immune tolerance has to be actively established in order to prevent pathologic immune reactions to these antigens. It is known for more than a hundred years that oral delivery of antigen has the potency to induce tolerance to this antigen (Wells and Osborne, 1911). This phenomenon known as oral tolerance serves a complementary purpose to thymic central tolerance, enabling the establishment of tolerance to food and commensal microbiota antigens. During the last few decades, many processes of tolerance to microbiota and food antigens were described. In this section I will review the current state of knowledge in this field. Regardless of the chronology of these findings I will describe the process of oral tolerance mechanistically, starting from the antigen uptake and ending with the effector mechanisms.

**BOX 1. Organization of intestinal lymphoid tissues.** The intestine contains both large numbers and a great variety of immune cells and it is even considered the largest immune organ in the body by some researchers. To control such a complex system, the intestine developed an intricate network of lymphoid organs, collectively termed as gut-associated lymphoid tissue. These include mesenteric lymph nodes (mLNs), Payer's patches (PPs) and a variety of smaller immune cell clusters in intestinal lamina propria, such as isolated lymphoid follicles. However, large number of immune cells also reside dispersed in lamina propria and intraepithelial space, where they perform immune surveillance by constant patrolling. PPs are located directly under the epithelial layer in the small intestine and the cecum and the epithelium covering them from the luminal side is termed follicle-associated epithelium (FAE). In contrast, mLNs are connected with the intestine indirectly, by the lymphatic drainage. (Mörbe et al., 2021). See also Fig. 4.

#### Antigen acquisition

In contrast to the thymic tolerance to self-antigens, which are expressed endogenously, antigens in the intestinal lumen must be acquired by the intestinal APCs that can present them to cognate T-cells and drive immune tolerance. Several pathways responsible for the delivery of antigens from intestinal lumen have been identified. The fact that most of these pathways are executed by epithelial cells further highlights the fundamental role of epithelial cells in the organization of the immune responses.

**M-cells.** M-cells are a specialized epithelial cell type residing in FAE (see BOX 1). Their primary function is to uptake luminal antigens and transport them to the underlying APCs in PPs. To perform this function, M-cells are equipped with unique set of molecules, hallmarked by Gp2, protein that facilitates uptake and transcytosis of luminal antigens (Hase et al., 2009; Kadaoui and Corthésy, 2007;

Rey et al., 2004; Verbrugghe et al., 2006). From the basolateral side, M-cells form a pocket, where APCs reside and take up antigens from M-cells (Mabbott et al., 2013). FAE epithelium actively organizes immune responses in PP by attracting CD11c<sup>+</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs (see section BOX 2 and Fig. 2) through M-cell-produced CCL9 (Zhao et al., 2003) and T-cells though Cxcl16 expressed throughout FAE (Hase et al., 2006).

Although it was shown that artificial targeting of dietary antigens to M-cells can lead to oral tolerance induction (Rynda et al., 2008; Suzuki et al., 2008), no such phenomenon was demonstrated for naturally occurring food antigens. On the other hand, M-cell-mediated antigen delivery plays a crucial role in the initiation of IgA responses to intestinal microbes (Rios et al., 2016). Thus, M-cell-dependent antigen uptake likely serves immunogenic purposes rather than the induction of oral tolerance. Alternatively, M-cells mediated antigen delivery might specifically drive immune responses (possibly both tolerogenic and immunogenic) to microbial antigens and not those derived from food, since M-cells seem rather specialized to uptake antigens from microbiota (Hase et al., 2009; Rey et al., 2004). This important issue requires further studies since it is currently unknown which antigen acquisition pathway is used to drive tolerance to intestinal microbiota (see *MHCII*<sup>+</sup> *ILC3* in *Antigen presentation* section).

Interestingly, some studies showed that aside from M-cells residing in FAE, phenotypically similar cells can be detected in villous epithelium of the small intestine (Jang et al., 2004; Kanaya et al., 2012; Knoop et al., 2009). However, since goblet cells associated passages (GAPs) were not known at this time, it is possible that villous M-cells can overlap with goblet cells performing GAPs. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that villous M-cells were primarily detected using UEA-I staining (Jang et al., 2004), for which goblet cells show high positivity (Gustafsson et al., 2021). Furthermore, FAE M-cells are dependent on Rank ligand signals (Knoop et al., 2009), which are delivered by underlaying PP stromal cells (Katakai et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2007). In contrast, bona fide Gp2<sup>+</sup> M cells can be detected on the villi only after the treatment with exogenous Rank ligand (Knoop et al., 2009).

**Goblet cells associated passages.** Goblet cells are the primary producers of intestinal mucins, thus creating the protective mucus layer segregating intestinal microbes from epithelium. However, it was found that on the top of mucus production, goblet cells play a major role in the antigen uptake in the intestine by creating GAPs (McDole et al., 2012). Similar to M-cells, GAPs deliver antigens primarily to CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs (McDole et al., 2012), however CD103<sup>-</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> APCs are also able to acquire antigens through this route (Kulkarni et al., 2020) (see BOX 2 and Fig. 2). Importantly, GAPs-mediated antigen delivery was shown to drive oral tolerance to naturally occurring food antigens (Kulkarni et al., 2020). Although the functional outcome of GAPs- and M-cell mediated antigen delivery routes were not formally compared in same conditions, it is possible that GAPs induce tolerogenic responses through

the co-transport of mucin, which is produced by goblet cells. This hypothesis is supported by findings, that mucin is able to induce tolerogenic phenotype in DCs (Rivera et al., 2022; Shan et al., 2013). Thus, the co-transport of antigens from intestinal lumen together with mucins might be one of the mechanisms that enforce oral tolerance to antigens acquired though GAPs.

Interestingly, it was shown that goblet cells express an array of chemokines, hallmarked by Ccl6 and 9, which are absent in other epithelial cells of the villous epithelium (Haber et al., 2017). While the functional importance of goblet cell-produced chemokines was not experimentally tested, it is possible that goblet cells use these chemokines to attract recipients of GAP-delivered antigens, similar to M-cells (Zhao et al., 2003).

**Enterocytes.** It was suggested that classical absorptive enterocytes, which compose the vast majority of intestinal epithelium, are also able to uptake and transfer luminal antigens. Alternatively, antigens can be transferred in a paracellular fashion, translocating between the neighboring cells (Snoeck et al., 2005). While these antigen uptake routes may play a role in pathologic conditions, when intestinal barrier is disrupted (Perrier and Corthésy, 2011), their contribution to the oral tolerance induction in the unperturbed conditions is unclear.

On the other hand, direct uptake of antigens by enterocytes might be crucial for the induction of homeostatic immunogenic responses. It was shown that small vesicles of epithelium-attaching bacteria are taken up and transferred by enterocytes, to which these bacteria attach. Ultimately, this process facilitates the induction of helper T-cell response type-17 (Th17) response, which targets epithelial cell-attaching bacteria (Ladinsky et al., 2019). For more details on homeostatic immunogenic responses in the intestine see section *Tolerate or responde*?

**Trans endothelial dendrites.** Several studies showed that intestinal phagocytes are able to extend appendages through the intestinal epithelial layer, forming so called trans endothelial dendrites (TEDs) (Chieppa et al., 2006; Niess et al., 2005; Rescigno et al., 2001). Although both Cx3cr1-GFP and CD11c-GFP reporter positive cells were found to have this capacity (Niess et al., 2005; Rescigno et al., 2001), it is unclear if this includes only macrophages or also intestinal DCs, since CD11c expression is shared by both these populations (See BOX2 and Fig. 2). Furthermore, the impact of this phenomenon on the immune responses targeting luminal antigens was not determined. Importantly, a recent study showed that in unmanipulated intestine TEDs are present at much lower frequencies than demonstrated previously as TED formation is induced by tissue processing methods used in previous studies (Kulkarni et al., 2020).

BOX 2. Intestinal APCs in the age single cell RNA sequencing. Much like the thymus, intestine contains a great variety of APCs. While older studies largely depended on the usage of CD11c (encoded by *Itgax*), which was deemed a unique DC marker, it is now clear that many other cell types express CD11c (Fig. 1 and 2). The research of the intestinal APCs however, largely utilized CD103 marker (encoded by *Itgae*), which seems to be rather specific for conventional DCs at least among intestinal myeloid cells (Fig. 2). Due to a dramatic scientific advance introduced by scRNAseg method, much more precise definition of APC populations is now available (Fig. 2). Since this method allowed comparison with classic marker sets, we can back-annotate classically used cell type definitions with newly discovered complexity of cell type heterogeneity. Thus, it is now clear that in the intestine CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs represent bona fide cDC population, that can be further subdivided to CD11b<sup>+</sup> (encoded by *Itgam*) cDC2 and CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDC1, although this definition of cDC1 population likely leads to some contamination with non-cDC1 cells (Fig. 2). Thus, the usage of other cDC1 markers such as XCR1 would likely increase the specificity of their definition. On the other hand, CD103<sup>-</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells classically termed as DCs based on their CD11c positivity likely represent macrophages (Fig. 1 and 2). On the top of those APCs, which are all of the myeloid origin, the intestine contains B cells, MHCII+ ILC3 cells, plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), as well as intestinal epithelial cells, which can induce MHCII expression.

In summary, several pathways of antigen acquisition were described. Among those, GAPs seem to be the major drivers of oral tolerance, while M-cell-mediated antigen transfer likely plays a major role in the induction of intestinal immunogenic responses (see also Fig. 3).

#### **Antigen presentation**

Once luminal antigens are transferred through the epithelial barrier, they are delivered to intestinal APCs. Intestines contain similar populations of APCs as the thymus (see *Central tolerance* section, BOX2, Fig. 1 and Fig. 2), with an important addition of innate lymphoid cells type-3 (ILC3) subpopulation, which expresses high levels of MHCII and performs APC functions. Among these subsets, it was shown that CD103<sup>+</sup> cDCs play a major role in the induction of tolerance to food antigens (Coombes et al., 2007; Esterházy et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2007), while MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3 are largely responsible for the induction of tolerance to intestinal microbiota (Hepworth et al., 2015; Hepworth et al., 2013; Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022).

**cDCs**. In the current model of tolerance to food antigens, intestinal cDCs acquire antigens through one of the processes described above (see section *Antigen acquisition*). After antigen acquisition, cDCs mature, upregulate Ccr7 and migrate to mesenteric lymph nodes, where they induce tolerance to food antigens through the induction of gut homing Tregs. This model was built on a number of studies that identified crucial points of this process. First, CD103<sup>+</sup> Cx3cr1<sup>-</sup> cDCs were identified as the primary inducers of tolerance to food antigens (Coombes et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2007). Second, the surgical



**Figure 2.** Heterogeneity of intestinal APCs. Reanalysis of publicly available scRNA-seqdataset (GEO database: GSE183885). Authors FACS sorted CD45+ cells from mLN, and both small and large intestinal lamina propria and intraepithelial space. For the details of sample preparation see the original study. Here I show the reanalysis of the original data using Seurat package (v 4.0.4) in R (v 4.1.1). **A**, UMAP visualization of all the cells after bioinformatic filtering of T- and B-cell lineages showing basic cell type annotation. **B**, Violin plot showing expression of cell type-defining markers (left) and to the ones used classically (right) for basic cell lineages shown in A. Note expression between cDC and Monocyte/macrophage lineages. **D-E**, Subclustering of Monocyte/Macrophage cluster. **D**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of subtypes of Monocyte/Macrophage lineage. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between Monocyte/Macrophage subtypes. **F-G**, Subclustering of cDC cluster. **F**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of cDC subtypes. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between Monocyte/Macrophage subtypes. **F-G**, Subclustering of cDC cluster. **F**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of cDC subtypes. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between Annocyte/Macrophage subtypes. **F-G**, Subclustering of cDC cluster. **F**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of cDC subtypes. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between Annocyte/Macrophage subtypes. **F-G**, Subclustering of cDC cluster. **F**, UMAP visualization showing annotation of cDC subtypes. **E**, Violin plot showing expression of marker genes distinguishing between the as post.DC?.

removal of mesenteric lymph nodes, as well as the inability of DCs to migrate to mLN in Ccr7<sup>-/-</sup> mice abrogates the induction tolerance to food antigens (Worbs et al., 2006). In this regard it is interesting to note that PPs seem to be dispensable for tolerance to food antigens (Spahn et al., 2002), arguing for FEA-associated M-cell independent mechanism of antigen acquisition in this process.

Mechanistically, cDCs in mLN induce Treg differentiation through their expression of TGF $\beta$  (Coombes et al., 2007), which is secreted in an inactive form that has to be activated by complex of integrins, composed of Itgav and Itgb8 subunits ( $\alpha\nu\beta8$ ) (Worthington et al., 2011b). It was shown that mLN cDCs express high levels of  $\alpha\nu\beta8$ , which they use to generate Tregs (Worthington et al., 2011a). The action of TGF $\beta$  is complemented by mLN cDCs' expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). This enzyme mediates the katabolism of tryptophan to kynurenines, which contribute to Treg differentiation (Matteoli et al., 2010). In parallel, mLN cDCs express high levels of retinol metabolizing enzymes, leading to retinoic acid production, which is the major inducer of gut homing phenotype in T cells (Iwata et al., 2004) and it also contributes to the ability of cDCs to induce Treg differentiations (Benson et al., 2007; Coombes et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2007). Interestingly, cDCs cooperate with mLN stromal cells to induce gut homing phenotype in T-cells (Hammerschmidt et al., 2008). Conversely, both gut homing molecules (Ccr9 and  $\alpha4\beta7$  integrin) and Treg generation are crucial for the induction of tolerance to food antigens (Cassani et al., 2011). Notably, it was shown that DC-epithelial interactions are important for DCs to drive Treg differentiation (Iliev et al., 2009), further highlighting the importance of immune-epithelial interaction in the intestinal homeostasis.

Although it was shown that cDCs in general are essential for the induction of tolerance to food antigens (Esterházy et al., 2016) the distinct contribution of individual DC subsets to this process is still enigmatic. While CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 are more abundant in the intestine and draining lymph nodes (Sun et al., 2007) and they are able to induce intestinal Treg generation (Welty et al., 2013), CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDC1 cells were found to induce food specific Tregs, however functional induction of oral tolerance was maintained in their absence (Esterházy et al., 2016). Thus, it seems that there might be some level of redundancy between intestinal cDC subsets in their ability to induce tolerance to food antigens. Interestingly, it was also shown that cDC1s bear a unique ability to cross-present exogenously acquired self-antigens from the intestine on their MHCI, which allows them to drive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses (Cerovic et al., 2015). Thus, the mechanisms used by each of the cDC subsets to drive tolerance to intestinal antigens might be different, which could be reflected in a more complex experimental system, that would reflect natural situation and not just one model food antigen.

Notably, it was found that in absence of mLN, CD103<sup>-</sup> Cx3cr1<sup>-</sup> cells accumulate in the lymph (Cerovic et al., 2013). Since these cells were presumably destined to enter mLN from the intestine, it is likely that these cells are progeny of migratory intestinal cDCs. In agreement with this hypothesis, using publicly available scRNA-seq dataset integrating cells from colon, small intestine and mLN, I was able to identify subset of CD103<sup>-</sup> Cx3cr1<sup>-</sup> Flt3<sup>+</sup> cells which are transcriptionally close to Ccr7<sup>+</sup> migratory

cDCs (Fig. 2). These cells express high levels of IL-15 receptor and IL-4 stimulation signature as well as the highest levels of CD1d among intestinal APCs (Fig. 1). Thus, they likely represent intestinal counterparts of putative thymic post-DCs (see section *Cooperative antigen transfer* in *Central tolerance*) and it is possible that they participate in the activation or maintenance of intestinal NKT-cells.

Macrophages. As described above, cDCs are able to induce tolerance to food antigens starting from antigen uptake and ending with induction of Treg differentiation. Thus, it was with a great surprise when it was found that tolerance to food antigens is abrogated in Cx3cr1-/- mice (Hadis et al., 2011), as cDCs do not express Cx3cr1 (see BOX2 and Fig. 1 and 2). There are two possible explanations of this phenomenon: 1) While Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> macrophages do not migrate to mLN after antigen acquisition (Schulz et al., 2009) and thus likely do not play a role in the induction of Treg differentiation, it is possible that local antigen presentation by intestinal macrophages is needed to maintain and/or expand Tregs once they migrate to this tissue (Hadis et al., 2011). This scenario would indicate a division of labor between intestinal APCs, where cDCs would play a role of Treg inducer and macrophages the role of local promoter of Tregs. 2) It was found that intestinal macrophages form gap junctions with intestinal cDCs (Mazzini et al., 2014). These junctions enable intestinal macrophages to transfer antigens to intestinal cDCs. Furthermore, the abrogation of gap junctions' formation between intestinal cDCs and macrophages leads to the accumulation of food antigens in macrophages, while in unperturbed conditions these antigens are largely restricted to cDCs (Mazzini et al., 2014). Thus, it is possible that in fact macrophages are primary recipients of food antigens and cDCs acquire these antigens from macrophages. This hypothesis would be supported by higher expression of Ccr1 in monocyte/macrophage populations (Fig. 2), as Ccr1 is the receptor for Ccl6 and Ccl9, the main chemokines expressed by both M cells and goblet cells (see previous section). Furthermore, these two hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and both these mechanisms can act in parallel.

**MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3.** While myeloid APCs play a crucial role in the tolerance to food antigens, their role in the tolerance to intestinal microbiota is unclear. In contrast, it was shown that specific population of ILC3s, which bear high levels of MHCII, plays a crucial role in tolerance to intestinal microbiota (Hepworth et al., 2015; Hepworth et al., 2013). The depletion of MHCII on ILC3s leads to splenomegaly, mLN enlargement and colitis (Hepworth et al., 2013). This pathology is dependent on microbiota and is executed by CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Hepworth et al., 2013). Using Cbir TCR transgenic mouse, in which T-cells recognize ubiquitous microbial antigen flagellin (Lodes et al., 2004), it was shown that MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s are both necessary and sufficient to drive the tolerance to microbiota in an antigen specific manner (Hepworth et al., 2015). In these studies, it was suggested that MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s are able

to delete microbiota reactive T-cells, possibly due to the lack of costimulation, since in contrast to cDCs, MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3 do not express CD80 and CD86 (Hepworth et al., 2015; Hepworth et al., 2013).

Recent studies showed that MHCII+ ILC3s also play a major role in the generation of microbiota specific Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Akagbosu et al., 2022; Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022) (for more details on intestinal Treg subpopulations see  $Roryt^+$  and  $Gata3^+$  Tregs section). Findings that ILC3 use Ccr7 to traffic from the intestine to the mLN (Mackley et al., 2015) and that this process is needed for the generation of microbiota specific Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Kedmi et al., 2022) suggest that MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s act in a similar fashion as cDCs (see DCs subsection in this section). I.e., they acquire antigens in the intestine and migrate to the mLN, where they present these antigens to cognate T-cells and induce their conversion to Tregs. It was also shown that ILC3s mediated Treg induction requires Itgav and Itgb8 (Akagbosu et al., 2022; Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022), suggesting that ILC3 use TGFB to drive the differentiation of microbiota specific Tregs, similar to cDC-mediated induction of Tregs specific for food antigens. However, it is currently unclear if MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s produce IDO or RA converting enzymes, which are known to modulate Treg generation and intestinal homing phenotype in T-cells by intestinal cDCs (see DCs subsection in this section). Furthermore, although it was shown that MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s can directly uptake, process and present antigens (Dobeš et al., 2022; Hepworth et al., 2013), it is currently unclear which pathway of antigen acquisition they use to drive tolerance to intestinal microbiota. Interestingly, a recent study found that MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s limit IgA induction in response to intestinal microbiota (Melo-Gonzalez et al., 2019). Although this topic will require further studies, this finding would support the notion that induction of tolerogenic T-cell responses acts in opposition to the generation of IgA.

While classical MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3 play a major role in the induction of immune tolerance to commensal microbiota, we have demonstrated the existence of another subpopulation of MHCII<sup>+</sup> cells that are phenotypically very close to ILC3s, but they are defined by their expression of Aire (Yamano et al., 2019). In contrast to Aire function in mTECs, in Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells Aire does not drive production of TRAs (for more details on Aire function in the thymus see section *Central tolerance*). Furthermore, these cells are dispensable for the induction of microbiota specific Tregs (Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022), although they bear strong antigen presentation capabilities (Yamano et al., 2019). Strikingly, it was later shown that Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells play a central role in the induction of the Th17 response to *Candida albicans* (Dobeš et al., 2022), a commensal fungus living throughout the whole gastrointestinal tract that can however cause severe pathology if not controlled by the immune system (for more details see *Breakdown of intestinal homeostasis* section). Thus, a population ILC3-like cells is specialized for the induction of proinflammatory immune responses to a specific group of fungal commensals, highlighting the crucial role of MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis (for more details of homeostatic proinflammatory see *Tolerate or respond*? section).

#### Effector mechanisms of tolerance to intestinal antigens

Once acquired, processed, and presented, intestinal antigens shape the repertoire of conventional Tcells to induce oral tolerance. Similar to the thymic T-cell selection, tolerance to food and microbiota antigens can be achieved either by clonal deletion or by the conversion of cognate T-cells to Tregs in the intestine and draining lymph nodes. It was also suggested that oral tolerance can be achieved by the induction of T-cell anergy, a state in which T-cells persist but are functionally suppressed (Friedman and Weiner, 1994; Van Houten and Blake, 1996). Recent study, mapping the complexity of food antigen targeting T-cell, showed that low-grade T-cell proliferation and activation is mounted. However, these T-cells do not differentiate to proinflammatory phenotype, due to the presence of Tregs (Hong et al., 2022), suggesting that it is the combination of all three cell fates: clonal deletion, Treg differentiation and T-cell anergy that governs oral tolerance.

Like in the thymus, the abundance of the antigen seems to be the deciding factor for the T-cell fate decision, since low dose of food antigens rather directs the conversion of cognate T-cell to Treg lineage, while high dose of food antigens preferentially induce T-cell deletion (Chen et al., 1995; Chen and Weiner, 1996; Friedman and Weiner, 1994). While not studied in detail, similar mechanism might operate for antigens from commensal microbiota. In support of this notion, responses to antigens broadly conserved among microbial taxa, such as flagellin, mostly induce deletion of cognate T-cells (Hepworth et al., 2015). In contrast, responses to antigens restricted to single or few bacterial taxa rather lead to Treg generation (Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022). However, since intestinal microbiota actively modulates T-cell responses (see section *Microbiota mediated immunoregulation*), mechanisms of tolerance to their antigens are likely much more complicated.

Once generated, Tregs use a combination of mechanisms to suppress inflammatory responses and promote intestinal homeostasis. Briefly, these mechanisms include the production of inhibitory cytokines, such as TGF $\beta$  and IL-10 and the ability to induce T-cell apoptosis by IL-2 consumption and secretion of granzymes (Shevach, 2009).

#### Roryt<sup>+</sup> and Gata3<sup>+</sup> Tregs

Over the past decade studies identified several types of Tregs that express transcription factors typically considered a hallmark of other Th subtypes. This includes the identification of Gata3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Wohlfert et al., 2011) and Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Ohnmacht et al., 2015; Sefik et al., 2015). Interestingly, in the intestine, the positivity for either Gata3 or Roryt defines two distinct Treg populations (Sefik et al., 2015).

Both Gata<sup>3+</sup> and Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs are able to differentiate in the periphery (Pratama et al., 2020). Although Gata<sup>3</sup> is necessary for Tregs to provide protection from colitis (Wohlfert et al., 2011), it also plays an important role in the maintenance of thymus derived Tregs (Ding et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2011). In contrast, the development of Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs is almost completely dependent on the intestinal microbiota (Ohnmacht et al., 2015; Sefik et al., 2015). Furthermore, some microbial species such as *Helicobacter hepaticus* are potent inducers of this Treg fate (Xu et al., 2018). Thus, Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs likely represent a *bona fide* microbiota-reactive and microbiota-induced peripheral T-cell fate. Recent studies found that these cells are completely dependent on MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3 and, their expression of Ccr7 and TGF $\beta$ -converting enzymes (Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022) (for more details see above). Importantly, Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs play an indispensable role in the tolerance to the intestinal microbiota since the deletion of Roryt specifically in the Treg population leads to microbiota dependent intestinal pathology (Al Nabhani et al., 2019; Ohnmacht et al., 2015; Sefik et al., 2015). While Gata3 is needed to stabilize Treg fate through the activation of Foxp3 locus (Wang et al., 2011), specific effector immunoregulatory mechanism operating in Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs in comparison to other Tregs has not been identified so far. For further information regarding role of Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs in the development of intestinal immune responses see section *Spatiotemporal map of intestinal immune responses*.

In summary, immune tolerance to intestinal antigens is a complex process starting in the thymus, where tolerance to intestinal self-antigens is established. In contrast, the tolerance to food- and commensal microbiota-derived antigens is established in the intestine and draining lymphoid organs. cDCs, and their cooperation with intestinal macrophages, play a major role in the tolerance to food antigens, which they acquire mainly via GAPs. After antigens acquisition, cDCs migrate to mLN, where they present these antigens to cognate T-cells and induce their conversion to Tregs. In contrast, tolerance to intestinal microbiota is largely done by MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s, which seem to operate in similar fashion to cDCs, i.e. they migrate to mLN after antigen acquisition and induce Treg differentiation, but their route of antigen acquisition is currently unclear. Tregs are the major effector cells that enforce tolerance in the intestine, using a battery of immunosuppressive mechanisms. For a schematic summary of stepwise selection of T-cells specific for intestinal antigens see Fig. 3 and 4.

#### **Tolerate or respond?**

Self-antigens and food-derived antigens pose no threat to the host (leaving aside cancerous host cells and ingested toxins). The situation is very different when the immune system reacts to commensal microbiota. While commensal microbes pose no threat under homeostatic conditions, they can overgrow and cause severe pathology when not kept in check. Although more examples can be found, this phenomenon can be illustrated by a recent finding that commensal strain of Cryptosporidium is well tolerated in WT mice, but it causes death in mice where cDC1 lineage and their ability to induce Th1 responses is disrupted (Russler-Germain et al., 2021). Thus, the immune system must keep the equilibrium between tolerance to commensal microbes and the homeostatic (proinflammatory) immune responses that enable the homeostatic cohabitation of host and commensal microbiota. In this section I will aim to provide the mechanistic insight into these homeostatic immune responses and highlight their indispensable role in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis.

#### Segmented filamentous bacteria

Segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB) (alternatively termed *Candidatus Arthromitus* or *Candidatus Svagella*) are spore-forming, gram-positive commensals of mice and other vertebrates (Hedblom et al., 2018). They attach to enterocytes of small intestine, with the preference to the ileum (Atarashi et al., 2015; Sano et al., 2015). Their attachment leads to the induction of strong Th17 response, marked by the production of IL-17 and IL-22, which however does not cause intestinal pathology (Atarashi et al., 2015; Gaboriau-Routhiau et al., 2009; Ivanov et al., 2009). This intriguing contradiction led to massive interest of immunologic community in these microbes. Thus, we currently have a deep understanding of SFB-driven immune responses, which I will use to exemplify pro-inflammatory homeostatic non-pathogenic immune responses that intestinal immune system uses to maintain homeostatic host-microbiota relationship.

#### Uptake and presentation of SFB-derived antigens

Immune response to SFB starts by the attachment of SFB to the intestinal epithelium. To ensure their attachment, SFB use hook-like protrusions, which are submerged into the infected enterocyte, without the perforation of enterocyte plasma membrane (Ladinsky et al., 2019). Due to a long coevolution with their host, SFB are specialized to a particular species, which they infect. For instance, SFB from rats are unable to attach to mice enterocytes. This enabled researchers to determine that the attachment of SFB to the enterocytes is necessary for the induction of Th17 response by SFB (Atarashi et al., 2015). Once attached, an interface between the enterocyte and SFB is established. At this interface, enterocytes perform endocytosis dependent on actin regulator CDC42, enabling them to uptake SFB-derived antigens and transport these antigens to intestinal APCs (Ladinsky et al., 2019). After transport, SFB antigens are utilized by Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>+</sup> intestinal monocyte-derived APCs, which ultimately drive Th17 response to SFB (Goto et al., 2014; Panea et al., 2015). It should be noted that it was initially thought that cDCs are responsible for SFB-driven Th17 induction, based on the usage of CD11c-Cre system (Goto et al., 2014), but as explained above, CD11c is also expressed by monocyte/macrophage lineage (please see BOX2 and Fig. 2).

#### **Induction of SFB-driven T-cell responses**

It was disputed, if SFB driven responses are induced locally in the intestine or if antigen delivery to lymphoid organs is necessary. Although the general amount of SFB-induced IL-17<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells is not altered in by the absence of mLNs and PPs (Geem et al., 2014), antigen-driven production of IL-17 in response to SFB is largely dependent on the presence of secondary lymphoid organs (Lecuyer et al., 2014). A possible explanation of these results could be that Th17-inducing milieu is established locally in the tissue, while lymphoid organs are necessary for the recruitment of SFB-specific T-cells. In this



**Figure 3.** Schematic representation of processes ensuring small intestinal homeostasis. While macrophages and cDCs uptake food antigens from goblet cells, to drive tolerance to dietary antigens, macrophages (MΦ) acquire microbial antigens from enterocytes, to drive homeostatic immunogenic T-cell responses, such as Th17. On the other hand, cDCs acquire microbial antigens from Payer's patch-residing M cells, ultimately leading to microbiota-specific IgA production. While food antigen-loaded DCs migrate to mLNs to drive deletion and Treg generation of food-specific T-cells, it is unclear if microbiota antigen-loaded macrophages migrate to mLNs do induce Th17 (although Th17 targeting microbiota is initiated in mLNs). Both Tregs and Th17 cells migrate to small intestine from mLNs and once in the intestine, they enforce intestinal homeostasis. While Tregs suppress proinflammatory immune responses, Th17 cells induce production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) in Paneth cells and enterocytes and support the transport of IgA to the lumen. Both IgA and AMPs regulate microbiota to support balanced host-microbiota relationship.

scenario, T-cells not specific for SFB could differentiate to Th17 by a bystander effect to fill the niche that enables Th17 differentiation, in the absence of lymphoid organs. Furthermore, it was shown that SFB induce de novo generation of tertiary lymphoid organs, which may partially compensate the role of mLN and PPs in Th17 induction (Lecuyer et al., 2014).

Although it was initially though that PPs might be the primary site of SFB-specific Th17 response, reasoning that SFB attachment to the epithelium covering PPs could facilitate SFB antigen delivery to PP (Gaboriau-Routhiau et al., 2009; Lecuyer et al., 2014), it was later shown that SFBspecific T-cells mount Th17 response primarily in mLNs (Sano et al., 2021). In light of these findings, it is unclear how SFB antigens are delivered to mLN, since intestinal macrophages are typically considered resident, and it was shown that they do not migrate to mLN (Schulz et al., 2009). However, macrophage migration to mLN was not studied in the context of SFB colonization. Furthermore, a recent study showed that during weaning, but not later in life, intestinal MHCII<sup>+</sup> Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> cells are able to migrate not only to mLN but also to the thymus. While in mLN intestine-originating Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> cells are outnumbered by other  $MHCII^+$  (D11c<sup>+</sup> (further undefined) cells even at weaning, in the thymus almost all cells coming from the intestine are Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup>. In parallel, SFB-specific T-cells accumulate in the thymus during weaning, in manner dependent on Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> cells (Zegarra-Ruiz et al., 2021). Despite this observation, re-immigration of peripherally expanded SFB-specific T-cell to the thymus was not excluded in this study and thus the physiological relevance of thymic (pre-)priming of SFB-targeted Tcell responses is currently unclear. Nevertheless, the accumulation of intestine-originating Cx3cr1<sup>+</sup> APCs in mLNs and the thymus suggests the possibility that initial induction of Th17 response to SFB might be occur specifically during weaning and that intestinal macrophages bear greater migratory potential in this specific timepoint than previously anticipated. For more details on the dynamics of intestinal immune responses see section Spatiotemporal map the intestinal homeostasis.

The molecular mechanism behind the SFB-driven Th17 induction is rather complex. The initiation of Th17 program in mLNs, through the induction of Roryt expression in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, is governed by the combination of IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23 (Sano et al., 2021). On the other hand, the production of IL-17 is induced locally, once pre-Th17 cells leave mLNs and migrate to the intestine (Sano et al., 2015). In the ileum, SFB drive induction of IL-23 (Sano et al., 2015), presumably in intestinal cDCs, which are potent producers of this cytokine (Kinnebrew et al., 2012). IL-23 induces the expression of IL-22 in intestinal ILC3s and IL-22 in turn acts on the intestinal epithelium to initiate the production of serum amyloid proteins (SAA) (Sano et al., 2015). As a result, potent, fully maturated, Th17 cells are induced by the combination of signals delivered in mLN and local signals in the intestine.

#### Induction of B-cell responses to SFB

Aside from Th17, SFB are also potent drivers of IgA responses (Talham et al., 1999; Umesaki et al., 1999). SFB drive B-cell maturation, formation of germinal centers, class switch of B-cells to IgA and

differentiation of B-cells to IgA-producing plasma cells (Lecuyer et al., 2014; Talham et al., 1999). Similar to T-cell responses, SFB induce IgA specific for SFB (Jiang et al., 2001; Lecuyer et al., 2014). In contrast to SFB-induced Th17 responses, SFB-induced IgA is primarily mounted in PPs (Lecuyer et al., 2014), arguing for the primary role of PPs to drive B-cell responses to intestinal microbes rather than T-cell tolerance (see section *Antigen acquisition* in *Tolerance to food and commensal antigens*). However, even in the absence of PPs, SFB-induced tertiary lymphoid organs, which form germinal centers and are able to compensate to some extent (Lecuyer et al., 2014). Interestingly, SFB-specific IgAs are transferred to pups from their mother, presumably in milk (Jiang et al., 2001) (for more details see *Spatiotemporal map of intestinal homeostasis* section). Similar to SFB-specific Th17 response, SFB-induced IgA is also dependent on the epithelial adhesion (Atarashi et al., 2015).

#### Effector mechanisms

Once SFB-induced T-cell and B-cell responses are established, effector mechanisms are mounted to limit the growth of SFB. Interestingly, T- and B-cell responses exert their effector functions through the intestinal epithelium.

**IL-17 and Paneth cells.** PCs are specialized epithelial cells residing in the crypts of the small intestine and their primary function is the secretion of antimicrobial molecules, such as  $\alpha$ -defensins and lysozyme (Bevins and Salzman, 2011). Importantly, PC-restricted  $\alpha$ -defensions were shown to regulate intestinal microbiota composition and limit SFB growth (Salzman et al., 2010). While PCs express many antimicrobial molecules constitutively, their expression and secretion can be modulated by extrinsic stimuli. PCs are able to sense microbes directly by their pattern recognition receptors, such as Nod2 (Petnicki-Ocwieja et al., 2009) and TLRs (Ayabe et al., 2000; Rumio et al., 2012) as well as indirectly through the recognition of IFNy (Farin et al., 2014; Raetz et al., 2013). However, all these signals primarily induce the extrusion of PC granules and, when the stimulation is delivered in high concentrations, it even induces PC depletion (Raetz et al., 2013). On the other hand, it was shown that IL-17 stimulation of intestinal epithelium leads to the upregulation of expression of PC-specific  $\alpha$ defensins, without the discrimination if the effect is direct to PCs (Kumar et al., 2016). We have recently found that direct IL-17 stimulation of PCs increases their expression of  $\alpha$ -defensins (Brabec et al., 2023). Furthermore, this stimulation primarily targets a specific set of  $\alpha$ -defensin genes (Brabec et al., 2023), which are primarily expressed in the ileum (Castillo et al., 2019; Haber et al., 2017). Although this issue was not studied in detail, it is interesting that specific set of IL-17 regulated defensins shows regional expression pattern, matching growth of SFB. Recent study also showed that IL-17-mediated stimulation of intestinal stem cells drives preferential differentiation to secretory epithelial lineages, including PCs (Lin et al., 2022). Together, these results establish IL-17-mediated stimulation of PC

antimicrobial functions as one of the fundamental effector mechanisms used by homeostatic immunogenic responses to control intestinal commensals, such as SFB.

**IL-22 and Reg3 proteins.** SFB induced IL-22 was shown to drive the expression of Reg3 proteins, including Reg3 $\alpha$  and Reg3 $\gamma$ , which in turn limit SFB growth (Sano et al., 2015; Shih et al., 2014). In contrast to PC-restricted  $\alpha$ -defensins, Reg3 proteins are widely expressed throughout intestinal epithelium (Vaishnava et al., 2011).

**IL-17, ROS and neutrophils.** On top of the above-described effects, IL-17 stimulation of the intestinal epithelium drives the expression of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generating enzyme Nox1 (Kumar et al., 2016) as well as Cxcl1/2-dependent recruitment of neutrophiles (Flannigan et al., 2017). Both these responses limit SFB growth (Flannigan et al., 2017; Kumar et al., 2016).

**IL-17 and IgA.** As described above, SFB induce intestinal IgA responses. In turn B-cells, their ability to class switch, as well as IgA production are necessary to limit SFB growth (Jiang et al., 2001; Kumar et al., 2016; Suzuki et al., 2004). Interestingly, the effector function B-cell responses to SFB is also dependent on the intestinal epithelium and modulated by SFB-driven T-cell responses. It was shown that SFB-induced IL-17 increases the epithelial expression of secretory IgA receptor (Pigr), which is necessary for IgA transcytosis to the intestinal lumen, where IgA performs its function (Kumar et al., 2016),

In this section I have used the example of immune response to SFB as the model of commensal driving homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses in the intestine. In summary, immune response to SFB is induced by epithelial cells, which endocytose SFB antigens and transfer them to intestinal APCs. In turn, these APCs induce intestinal Th17 and IgA responses, which ultimately limit SFB growth through their cooperation with intestinal epithelium. Thus, homeostatic responses to epithelial adhesive commensals seem to be largely different from those, which drive intestinal tolerance, including antigen acquisition route, major APCs involved as well as effector mechanisms used (see section *Antigen acquisition* in *Tolerance to food and commensal antigens*). For a schematic representation of these processes see Fig. 3 and 4.

#### Microbiota mediated immunoregulation

Classically, antigens are viewed as mere targets of the immune system that decides which immune response to mount as well as its magnitude based on the context of PRR ligands delivered to sentinel APC, which encounters the antigen. In contrast to this model, intestinal commensals developed multiple mechanisms to modulate immune responses that are mounted by the host immune system after the

recognition of commensal antigens. One of the major routes of microbial immune regulation is mediated by so-called secondary metabolites, i.e. molecules that are generated by intestinal microbiota through the metabolism of dietary compounds and host products (Geuking and Burkhard, 2020).

An example of immunomodulatory secondary metabolites are short chain fatty acids (SCFA). These molecules, such as acetate, butyrate and propionate, are produced by some intestinal commensals through the fermentation of dietary fiber (Geuking and Burkhard, 2020). It was found that several strains of commensal clostridia use SCFA to drive intestinal Treg responses (Atarashi et al., 2013). In the past few decades, many of other secondary metabolites with immunomodulatory properties were identified (Geuking and Burkhard, 2020). Importantly, generation of these secondary metabolites is largely dependent on the diet composition, which might be one of the explanations of recent increase in the incidence of immunologic disorders observed in western countries, where diet is typically high in fat, salt and sugar, while low in fiber (Bach, 2002).

Thus, intestinal microbes actively modulate the intestinal immune system, which enables them to participate in the decision-making whether proinflammatory or regulatory immune responses are mounted.

#### Spatiotemporal map of intestinal homeostasis

Throughout this thesis I have focused on the mechanistic description of processes that govern intestinal homeostasis. Although this kind of perception allows the identification of individual processes, it gives us a "cross-section frozen in time". Recent studies demonstrated that the establishment of intestinal immune homeostasis is dynamic in time and compartmentalized to specific regions of the intestine.

#### Timing

It has been demonstrated that there are several crucial time windows, in which certain aspects of intestinal immune homeostasis are established.

**Neonatal window.** Firstly, in a neonatal period, intestinal immune system comes to the first contact with complex microbiota that colonizes the intestine shortly after birth. These microbes largely originate from the mother (Mueller et al., 2015) and their presence is beneficial for the infant, among other things, to optimize nutrients uptake (Schwarzer et al., 2023). However, along with the microbiota, mother also provides the infant with her own immune memory of host-microbe interaction, through the delivery of IgA in breast milk (Jiang et al., 2001; Ramanan et al., 2020). Thus, the inexperienced immune system of the infant is given a period, in which it can establish its own homeostatic relationship with its own intestinal microbiota. It was recently found that breast milk delivered IgA determines the setpoint of intestinal homeostasis in the infant through the modulation of the amount of Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs, which differentiate in response to microbiota (Ramanan et al., 2020). Strikingly, milk-born antibodies

targeting food antigens also protect the infant from the development of food allergy, through the induction of food antigen-specific Tregs (Ohsaki et al., 2018). Thus, transfer of antibodies from the mother in breast milk provides the infant with the shadow of experienced maternal oral tolerance.

It seems that even immunogenic memory of homeostatic microbiota-regulatory responses is delivered to the infant since SFB-specific IgA delivered through breast milk limits the growth of SFB in the pre-weaning period (Jiang et al., 2001). While this route of SFB-specific IgA acquisition is induced shortly after birth and peaks around weaning, it is overtaken by endogenous production of SFB-specific IgA later in life (Jiang et al., 2001). Although the functional outcome of SFB-specific IgA transfer from mother is not clear, it is tempting to speculate that it might play a role in SFB-targeted Th17 response, similar to the effect of maternal IgA on the development of Ror $\gamma^+$  Tregs (Ramanan et al., 2020).

Interestingly, at the same timepoint, infant thymus generates a distinct population of Airedependent neonatal Tregs, crucial for self-tolerance (Yang et al., 2015). Thus, in a preweaning period, mother provided immune memory and the infant-intrinsic mechanisms collaborate to generate a setpoint of immune tolerance to intestinal self-antigens as well as to those from food and microbiota.

Weaning. Another crucial time window is the weaning. It is a period when the infant starts eating solid food, which leads to massive changes in the intestinal microbiota composition (Al Nabhani et al., 2019). At this timepoint intestinal immune system mounts nonpathogenic proinflammatory immune responses (Al Nabhani et al., 2019) which are dependent on the intestinal microbiota and they target microbial antigens (Al Nabhani et al., 2019; Knoop et al., 2017). Importantly, the disruption of these immune responses abrogates tolerance to commensal microbiota (Knoop et al., 2017) and predisposes the host to many severe pathologies, such as colitis, colorectal cancer and allergy, later in life (Al Nabhani et al., 2019). Interestingly, the time window for the so call "weaning reaction" seems to be rather limited as the shift in time of microbiota introduction results in pathology (Al Nabhani et al., 2019). The initiation of weaning reaction is induced by the drop of breast milk delivered EGF (Al Nabhani et al., 2019; Knoop et al., 2017), which controls the goblet cell-mediated antigen uptake in the colon (Knoop et al., 2017). Weaning reaction also seems to have an upper time limit, i.e. it cannot be shifted to older age, however the molecular determinants of this border are yet unknown. Although all the complexity of immune responses mounted at weaning is only beginning to be uncovered, Tregs induced at this timepoint seem crucial for long-term intestine homeostasis. Similar to the neonatal wave of thymic Tregs, weaning-derived Roryt<sup>+</sup> Tregs generated in the intestine, are crucial transducers of the longlasting memory of immune response that took place during weaning (Al Nabhani et al., 2019). However, while the transient upregulation of IFNy and TNFa at weaning was reported (Al Nabhani et al., 2019), the functional significance of this observation for the intestinal homeostasis is currently unknown. Nevertheless, the availability of complex microbiota and dietary antigens, present at weaning, together with high efficiency of GAPs-mediated antigen uptake at this timepoint poses the weaning period as the "sweet spot" for the induction of tolerance to intestinal antigens.

#### Regionalization

The physical barrier is largely different in the small intestine and colon. In the colon, luminal microbes are largely segregated from the epithelium by a thick layer of mucus. In the small intestine, microbes may often come to contact with epithelial cells, since it contains only a thin layer of mucus, and the barrier function is largely ensured by the production of antimicrobial compounds (Clevers and Bevins, 2013; Johansson et al., 2011; Mowat and Agace, 2014). This difference might be the driving force of divergent immune responses that are mounted in response to microbes present in these tissues. While colonic reactions to microbiota largely drive the generation of Tregs, in the small intestine, homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses are kept in equilibrium with immune suppression (Mowat and Agace, 2014).

Since the small intestine is the primary side of nutrients absorption, it also contains the largest concentration of food antigens. In contrast, colon contains the greatest diversity of commensal microbes. Conversely, the tolerance to food antigens is primarily induced in the small intestine, while the tolerance to commensal microbiota is mostly induced in the colon (Kim et al., 2016). Interestingly, the presence of some commensal microbes is generally limited to the small intestine. One of these microbes is SFB, which is also a potent inducer of homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses (Gaboriau-Routhiau et al., 2009; Ivanov et al., 2009) (see section *Tolerate or respond?*). Thus, it is possible that tropism specific for the small intestine, together with the ability to attach to the intestinal epithelium is a defining factor for the microbes to induce homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses.

Interestingly, the capacity of goblet cells to deliver luminal antigens to intestinal APCs is differentially regulated in the small intestine and colon. While in the colon GAPs open shortly after birth, but close soon after the weaning, small intestine GAPs show an opposing trend, gradually increasing their activity from the weaning (Knoop et al., 2017).

Collectively, recent studies discussed in this section highlight the importance of localization and timing of intestinal immune responses, suggesting that neonatal and weaning time windows are crucial for the establishment of proper intestinal immune equilibrium. In addition, while the small intestine combines tolerance to food antigens with homeostatic immunogenic responses and tolerance to intestinal microbiota, the colon seems to be rather specialized for the induction of tolerance to microbiota. However, it is only recently that we started to uncover the immense dynamic of intestinal immune responses through time and space and thus many further studies are needed to really understand these processes.

#### **Breakdown of intestinal homeostasis**

In previous sections I have summarized mechanisms which enable establishment of intestinal immune homeostasis. In this section I will illustrate the crucial importance of these processes and describe deleterious outcomes which occur if intestinal homeostasis fails.

#### Failure of thymic tolerance

The importance of functional central tolerance can be demonstrated by the existence of severe human disorders, such as Autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type-1 (APS-1) or Immunodysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked (IPEX). In the case of APS-1, patients carry mutations of *AIRE* gene, which leads to complete or partial dysfunction of the AIRE protein (Consortium, 1997; Nagamine et al., 1997), leading to disruption of mTECs' ability to produce TRAs and thus to incomplete thymic selection of self-reactive T-cell (Anderson et al., 2002; Liston et al., 2003). As a result, patients develop a number of autoimmune symptoms typically including destruction of thyroid glands, adrenal glands and gonads (Perheentupa, 2006). Notably, the majority of APS-1 patients also develop chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis (CMC) (Perheentupa, 2006). This phenomenon was long a mystery, since it is not a typical complication in other autoimmune disorders, but rather it develops in immunosuppressed or immunodeficient patients (Huppler et al., 2012). As explained above, it was recently shown that susceptibility of APS-1 patients to CMC is rather linked to extrathymic Aire function (Dobeš et al., 2022) (for more details please see section *Antigen presentation* in *Tolerance to food and microbiota antigens* section ).

On top of canonic symptoms described above, some APS-1 patients also develop intestinal pathology represented either by malabsorption, chronic constipation or diarrhea (Perheentupa, 2006). While the pathogenesis of these APS-1 symptoms is unknown, it is worthy of note that Aire plays a role in the expression of PC-specific  $\alpha$ -defensins in mTECs and APS-1 patients show lowered numbers of PCs (Dobeš et al., 2015). Thus, we can speculate that PC destruction, due to incomplete elimination of T-cell which recognize PC-specific autoantigens in the state of AIRE disfunction could be a driving force for a portion of intestinal symptoms observed in APS-1 patients.

In contrast to APS-1, mTECs' ability to produce TRAs is unperturbed in IPEX patients, however these patients carry mutations of *FOXP3* gene (Bennett et al., 2001; Wildin et al., 2001), the master regulator of Treg differentiation program (Fontenot et al., 2003; Fontenot et al., 2005; Hori et al., 2003). The abrogation of FOXP3 function leads to inability of T-cells to undergo Treg development, which, similar to APS-1, results in multiorgan autoimmune manifestations. However, unlike in APS-1, in IPEX patients the intestine is one of the primary sites of pathology (Wildin et al., 2002). As explained above, Tregs are generated both in the thymus and in the immune periphery and in particular at the mucosal barriers in response to food and commensal microbiota antigens (Idoyaga et al., 2013;

Josefowicz et al., 2012; Weiss et al., 2012). Since Tregs play a crucial role in the intestinal homeostasis (Liu et al., 2003; Mottet et al., 2003) it is likely that intestinal pathology in IPEX is linked to abrogation of both thymic and intestinal Tregs development in contrast to APS-1, where intestinal Treg differentiation is likely unperturbed.

#### Failure of tolerance to food and microbiota antigens

In contrast to thymic tolerance, failure of tolerance to antigens from intestinal lumen results either in food allergies or IBD. As described above, tolerance to food and microbiota antigens is mediated by distinct APCs and thus the disruption of DC tolerogenic properties is the likely the cause of food allergies (Coombes et al., 2007; Esterházy et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2007), while the perturbation of antigens presentation in ILC3s is associated with IBD (Hepworth et al., 2015).

**Food allergy.** Food allergy is a pathologic reaction to harmless food antigens included in the diet. While the precise mechanism that drives the pathogenesis of food allergy is not clear, it is generally accepted that these conditions arise from the failure of oral tolerance (Wambre and Jeong, 2018).

One of the possible explanations why tolerance to food antigens fails in food allergy arose from the investigation of the nature of typical food antigens. Interestingly, food allergy is targeted only to a small fraction from a vast variety of antigens that are typically included in diet. It was found that some typical food allergens, such as Ara h 1, major allergen of peanuts, acts as an adjuvant, driving pro-Th2 polarization of intestinal DCs (Shreffler et al., 2006). A common mechanism behind adjuvant-like properties of food antigens might be their glycosylation pattern, since specific protein glycosylation is able to skew immune response to proallergic Th2 (Hilmenyuk et al., 2010; Hsu et al., 2007).

Importantly, microbiota dysbiosis was implicated in the pathogenesis of food allergy (Zhao et al., 2019). As described above, intestinal microbes are able to actively promote development of intestinal tolerance. While these microbes likely developed this ability primarily to be tolerated by the immune system, it also enables them to shape immune responses to other targets, such as food antigens. Thus, one can imagine that perturbation of intestinal microbiota composition by external factors (such as antibiotics treatment) or genetic predisposition (such as mutations in antimicrobial proteins or molecules that regulate them) can predispose immune system to develop food allergy due to the loss of microbiota-driven tolerogenic environment.

**Inflammatory bowel diseases.** IBD are a group of disorders that are characterized by chronic inflammation in the small intestine or colon (or even upper gastro-intestinal tract in some cases). Two major components of IBD are Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). While UC is limited to the colon, CD can affect any part of the gastro-intestinal tract, however it manifests typically in the colon or terminal ileum. Although these diseases were historically viewed as idiopathic, i.e. without

any obvious causative factor, in recent decades a large number of studies have aimed to understand mechanisms that drive the development of IBD. Thus, it is the current view that the three major components: genetic predisposition, pathologic immune reaction to intestinal microbiota and dysbiosis (disruption of microbiota composition and/or functionality), in combination, are the driving force of IBD development (Ramos and Papadakis, 2019).

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) found that mutations associated with IBD mostly target genes, which play a role in the intestinal homeostasis establishment. Just to name a few, these genes include *NOD2*, *IL10*, *RORC* and *IL23R*, signifying that genetic basis of IBD is tightly linked to the functionality of intestinal homeostasis (Jostins et al., 2012). While cases of IBD with strong genetic association mostly manifest in early childhood, the majority of IBD patients are diagnosed much later in their lives, suggesting that although genetic background plays a role in IBD development, other factors must contribute to IBD development (Ramos and Papadakis, 2019).

One of the principal causes of IBD development is the uncontrolled inflammatory response to commensal microbiota. As described above (see *Tolerance to food and commensal antigens* section), MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s are responsible for the establishment of tolerance to commensal microbiota (Hepworth et al., 2013). Importantly, it was found that the IBD patients show lowered MHCII<sup>+</sup> expression in ILC3s as well as low frequencies of ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>+</sup> Tregs in their intestines and associated lymphoid organs (Hepworth et al., 2015; Lyu et al., 2022), suggesting that perturbation of MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3-mediated T-cell selection might be the causative factor for IBD development. However, the underlying mechanism that might explain why MHCII on ILC3s is lowered in IBD patients is yet unknown. Also, it is unclear, what is the mechanistic difference between homeostatic inflammatory immune responses that are mounted to some intestinal microbes (see section *Tolerate or respond?*) and deleterious chronic inflammation observed in IBD.

#### Failure of microbiota regulation

While in the previous subsection I have focused on the failure of immune system to tolerate harmless antigens in the intestine that results in intestinal pathology, here I will focus on the perturbation of complementary mechanism, i.e. the propensity of dysbiotic gut microbiota to cause intestinal pathology. The idea that pathogenesis of IBD and other conditions may be driven by changes in the intestinal microbiota came from microbiome profiling studies, which found that composition of intestinal microbiota is altered in patients suffering from these conditions. While this observation was reproduced multiple times, it became evident that no universal microbiota signature can be assigned as IBD-predisposing or even IBD-associated, since changes in microbiota in IBD patients are largely specific for each individual or a group of individuals. However, what seems to be universally applicable is that the diversity of microbial community in the intestine shrinks in dysbiotic state (Franzosa et al., 2019; Gevers et al., 2014; Morgan et al., 2012; Pascal et al., 2017).

Despite these observations it is not clear if changes in microbiota composition are the results of intestinal inflammation in IBD state, or if microbiota alteration operates upstream of inflammation and may serve as one of the inflammation triggers. Importantly, in mice it was functionally proven that dysbiotic microbiota from mice with IBD-like disease can induce similar pathology in genetically susceptible recipients (Couturier-Maillard et al., 2013; Elinav et al., 2011; Schaubeck et al., 2016). Furthermore, we have shown that microbiota from mice which show subclinical intestinal inflammation in the intestine, along with a robust drop in their microbial diversity, is capable to induce severe intestinal pathology after its transfer to IL-10<sup>-/-</sup> recipients, which are prone to microbiota-dependent intestinal inflammation (Brabec et al., 2023). This suggests that microbiota dysbiosis can indeed occur upstream of intestinal pathology rather than as its result and it can be one of the primary drivers of IBD.

#### Summary

In this literary overview I have aimed to provide a mechanistic insight into the processes which govern intestinal homeostasis establishment and maintenance. I have shown that intestinal homeostasis is established in a multilayered system, starting from thymic T-cell selection, which ensures tolerance to intestinal self-antigens, followed by intestine-specific mechanisms that drive tolerance to food and microbiota antigens. As I highlighted, compared to other tissues, intestinal immune system is faced with additional challenge, the necessity to keep intestinal microbes in check through homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses, which drive microbe-limiting effector mechanisms. Thus, intestinal homeostasis is defined by the tightly controlled equilibrium between pro- and anti-inflammatory responses rather than indiscriminative tolerance. Furthermore, intestinal microbes actively modulate immune responses that target them, adding another layer of complexity to the already complex system controlling intestinal homeostasis. Finally, I have described typical cases, in which intestinal homeostasis fails, leading to often severe intestinal pathology. For schematic summary of multilayered model of intestinal homeostasis please see Fig. 4.

Throughout this review I have demonstrated the crucial role of immune-epithelial interactions, which orchestrate indispensable processes such as thymic T-cells selection done by mTECs, intestinal lumen antigens acquisition by M-cells and goblet cells, and effector mechanisms executed through secretion of antimicrobial compounds from PCs and other cells of in the intestinal epithelium. As can be seen from the presented publications, immune-epithelial interactions and their role in intestinal homeostasis were the primary focus of my Ph.D. studies. Now I will briefly summarize the original aims of my Ph.D. studies, which are addressed in respective publications shown below.



**Figure 4. Multilayered model of intestinal immune homeostasis.** In the thymus mTEC-cDC cooperation ensures deletion and Treg diversion of self-specific T-cell clones, releasing self-specific Tregs, together with naïve T-cells with all the other specificities to the system. In the small intestine, cDCs uptake food antigens and migrate to mLNs, where they mediate deletion and Treg diversion of food-specific clones T-cell clones. Generation of homeostatic proinflammatory T-cell responses (Th17) to microbiota is driven by intestinal macrophages (M $\Phi$ ), but it is currently unclear if they migrate to mLNs. In the colon, ILC3 uptake microbiota antigens and migrate to mLNs, where they mediate deletion and Treg diversion of microbiota-specific clones T-cell clones. Self-, food- and microbiota-specific Tregs together with microbiota specific Th17 migrate to the intestines, where they enforce immune homeostasis by immune suppression and microbiota regulation.

#### Thesis aims

Originally, my Ph.D. was focused mainly on the immune regulation of PCs antimicrobial functions and their role in intestinal homeostasis. However, during the course of my Ph.D. studies, my scientific interests broadened to the study of intestinal homeostasis as a whole. My position in the laboratory of Dominik Filipp and many fruitful discussions with my colleagues allowed me to extend the view of intestinal immunity and take into account many other aspects, such as thymic T-cells selection. Thus, my personal scientific growth resulted in several studies presented below, which contributed to the view of intestinal homeostasis as a complex system of interdependent processes. Specifically, we aimed to address the following questions:

# 1) Are Paneth cells directly regulated by IL-17 and what is the physiologic importance of this regulatory mechanism?

Rationale: IL-17 is the major driver of antimicrobial molecules expression, while PCs are the major producers of antimicrobial compounds in the intestine. However, the direct link between IL-17 and PCs was previously unknown.

# 2) How does TLR stimulation affect mTEC biology and what is the impact of this process on thymic dendritic cells, cooperative antigen transfer and T-cell selection?

Rationale: While mTECs were known to express TLRs, the function of TLR-mediated stimulation of mTECs, as well as its impact on thymic T-cell selection were unknown.

#### 3) Are mTEC-derived antigens delivered to specific thymic APC subsets?

Rationale: Several different thymic APC subsets were known to acquire antigens from mTECs, and this process was known to contribute to thymic T-cell selection. Since recent studies have shown large heterogeneity of mTECs, we speculated that different mTEC subsets might deliver antigens to distinct populations of thymic APCs.

#### 4) What is the identity and function of Aire<sup>+</sup> cells in the secondary lymphoid organs?

Rationale: Previous studies showed that Aire<sup>+</sup> APCs reside outside of the thymus, in lymph nodes, but their cellular identity as well as function(s) was not known.

## 5) What is the impact of Nod2-mediated stimulation of intestinal epithelium on the chronic malnutrition?

Rationale: Certain microbes are able to alleviate some deleterious effects of chronic malnutrition, however the mechanism of their action was not known.

### Results

Here I provide a list of primary publication in which I have participated throughout my Ph.D. studies, that constitute the core body of my scientific work related to the topic of this thesis:

**Brabec T**, Voboril M, Schierova D, Valter E, Splichalova I, Dobes J, Brezina J, Dobesova M, Aidarova A, Jakubec M, Blumberg R, Waissman A, Kolar M, Kubovciak J, Srutkova D, Hudcovic T, Schwarzer M, Fronkova E, Pinkasova T, Jabandziev P and Filipp D. **IL-17 driven induction of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions protects the host from microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation in the ileum.** *In press, Mucosal Immunology, 10.1016/j.mucimm.2023.01.005* 

Vobořil M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobeš J, Šplíchalová I, Březina J, Čepková A, Dobešová M, Aidarova A, Kubovčiak J, Tsyklauri O, Štěpánek O, Beneš V, Sedláček R, Klein L, Kolář M, Filipp D. Toll-like receptor signaling in thymic epithelium controls monocyte-derived dendritic cell recruitment and Treg generation. *Nat Commun. 2020 May 12;11(1):2361. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16081-3.* 

Vobořil M, Březina J, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobeš J, Ballek O, Dobešová M, Manning J, Blumberg RS, Filipp D. A model of preferential pairing between epithelial and dendritic cells in thymic antigen transfer. *Elife. 2022 Jan 31;11:e71578. doi: 10.7554/eLife.71578.* 

Dobeš J, Edenhofer F, Vobořil M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobešová M, Čepková A, Klein L, Rajewsky K, Filipp D. A novel conditional Aire allele enables cell-specific ablation of the immune tolerance regulator Aire. *Eur J Immunol. 2018 Mar;48(3):546-548. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747267. Epub 2017 Dec 27.* 

Yamano T, Dobeš J, Vobořil M, Steinert M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Ziętara N, Dobešová M, Ohnmacht C, Laan M, Peterson P, Benes V, Sedláček R, Hanayama R, Kolář M, Klein L, Filipp D. Aire-expressing ILC3-like cells in the lymph node display potent APC features. J Exp Med. 2019 Mar 27. pii: jem.20181430. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181430.

Schwarzer M, Gautam UK, Makki K, Lambert A, <u>Brabec T</u>, Joly A, Šrůtková D, Poinsot P, Novotná T, Geoffroy S, Courtin P, Hermanová PP, Matos RC, Landry JJM, Gérard C, Bulteau AL, Hudcovic T, Kozáková H, Filipp D, Chapot-Chartier MP, Šinkora M, Peretti N, Boneca IG, Chamaillard M, Vidal H, De Vadder F, Leulier F. Microbe-mediated intestinal NOD2 stimulation improves linear growth of undernourished infant mice. *Science.* 2023 Feb 24;379(6634):826-833. doi: 10.1126/science.ade9767.

I have also participated in one review article and one study related to embryonic hematopoiesis:

Filipp D, <u>Brabec T</u>, Vobořil M, Dobeš J. Enteric α-defensins on the verge of intestinal immune tolerance and inflammation. *Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2018 Jan 29. pii: S1084-9521(17)30407-X. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2018.01.007.* 

Splichalova I, Balounová J, Vobořil M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Sedlacek R, Filipp D. Deletion of TLR2 + erythromyeloid progenitors leads to embryonic lethality in mice. *Eur J Immunol. 2021 Sep;51(9):2237-*2250. doi: 10.1002/eji.202049142. Epub 2021 Jun 21.

# IL-17 driven induction of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions protects the host from microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation in the ileum

In this study we investigated one of the effector mechanisms of homeostatic proinflammatory immune responses in the intestine (see *Tolerate or respond*? section in *Current state of knowledge*), namely the impact of direct IL-17 stimulation on PC antimicrobial functions. Through PC-specific genetic depletion of IL-17 receptor, we have found that IL-17 increases the expression of specific set of enteric  $\alpha$ -defensins in ileal PCs. In turn, the abrogation of PCs' ability to sense IL-17 leads to subclinical inflammation in the ileum and drop in ileal microbiota diversity. Interestingly fecal microbiota remained largely unaffected, arguing for the region-specific function of enteric  $\alpha$ -defensins that are affected by IL-17 mediated stimulation of PCs. Importantly, ileal microbiota from mice lacking IL-17 receptor on PCs is able to induce severe intestinal inflammation in IL-10<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that regulation of microbiota through IL-17 driven stimulation of PCs is crucial to maintain intestinal homeostasis. Finally, we analyzed a small cohort of pediatric patients suffering from Crohn's disease and found that sub-cohort of these patients showed the most severe inflammation in their ileum among all the patients in our cohort, suggesting that mechanism, similar to the one we discovered in mice, might also operate in humans.

This is the central study of this thesis in which I have participated as the first author. I have formed the hypotheses, designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript, often with the help facilitated by the discussion with my supervisor Dominik Filipp as well as Jan Dobeš, Matouš Vobořil, Evgeny Valter, Jiří Březina, Marin Schwarzer, Dagmar Schierova and other coauthors. I have also performed the majority of the experimental work presented in this study, but I want to stress that I am really grateful for all the help with particular experiments rendered by all the coauthors. Namely, I want to acknowledge the help of Marin Schwarzer for performing all the microbiota transfer experiments, Dagmar Schierova for performing all the microbiota sequencing, Evgeny Valter for all the histopathology scoring and Peter Jabandziev for organizing the collection of patient samples.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Brabec T</u>, Voboril M, Schierova D, Valter E, Splichalova I, Dobes J, Brezina J, Dobesova M, Aidarova A, Jakubec M, Blumberg R, Waissman A, Kolar M, Kubovciak J, Srutkova D, Hudcovic T, Schwarzer M, Fronkova E, Pinkasova T, Jabandziev P and Filipp D. **IL-17 driven induction of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions protects the host from microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation in the ileum.** *In press, Mucosal Immunology, 10.1016/j.mucimm.2023.01.005* 

# Toll-like receptor signaling in thymic epithelium controls monocyte-derived dendritic cell recruitment and Treg generation.

In this publication we have investigated the role of TLR signaling in mTECs. We have found that upon TLR stimulation mTECs upregulate a set of chemokines in TLR transducer MyD88-dependent manner. Next, we analyzed the heterogeneity of thymic APC, along with their capacity to sense these chemokines. Through this analysis we identified a subpopulation of CD14<sup>+</sup> cDCs, which accumulated in response to TLR mediated stimulation of mTECs. Furthermore, these cells increased their capacity to acquire mTEC-produced antigens after TLR mediated stimulation of mTECs. Thus, we have identified a novel mechanism which regulates CAT to a specific population of DCs.

Next, we focused on the physiological role of this mechanism. Although mice with mTECspecific MyD88 genetic depletion did not show changes in the general thymic T-cell development, we found that these mice have decreased frequency of thymically generated Tregs. Importantly, this effect was dependent on the MHCII expression in DCs, arguing for the role of DC mediated presentation of mTEC derived antigens. We also discovered that Tregs found in mice with mTEC-specific MyD88 depletion show weaker capacity to suppress T-cell activation. Finally, we have used T-cell transfer approach and showed that T-cells from mice with mTEC-specific MyD88 depletion induce intestinal inflammation, likely due to the disruption of their Treg functionality. Thus, we have identified a mechanism, which orchestrates T-cell selection through the cooperation of mTECs with a specific set of cDC. Strikingly, this mechanism, which operates in the thymus, ultimately contributes to intestinal homeostasis.

In this study I have participated as a coauthor. I have contributed mostly intellectually, through discussion, experimental design, and critical reading of the manuscript. I have also performed experiments, which tested the functionality of Tregs.

Vobořil M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobeš J, Šplíchalová I, Březina J, Čepková A, Dobešová M, Aidarova A, Kubovčiak J, Tsyklauri O, Štěpánek O, Beneš V, Sedláček R, Klein L, Kolář M, Filipp D. Toll-like receptor signaling in thymic epithelium controls monocyte-derived dendritic cell recruitment and Treg generation. *Nat Commun. 2020 May 12;11(1):2361. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16081-3.* 

# A model of preferential pairing between epithelial and dendritic cells in thymic antigen transfer.

This is a follow up study of the one, presented just above. In this study we have tested the hypothesis that specific subsets of mTECs deliver antigens to specific types of thymic APCs. We used a set of mouse models, which express fluorescent proteins in different populations of mTECs. By correlating the expression pattern of these fluorescent proteins in different mTEC populations and the positivity for these markers in thymic APCs, which acquired them through CAT we identified several possible mTEC-APC pairs. While this approach has many limitations, it was the first study to analyze this complex system. On top of these findings, we identified thymic aDCs as the most efficient population participating in CAT. Furthermore, we have found that unlike other thymic APCs, single CD14<sup>+</sup> cDC is able to acquire antigens from multiple mTECs as well as from other thymic APCs with strikingly high efficiency.

Due to the descriptive nature of this study, there is no direct relation to intestinal homeostasis. However, as I have discussed above, the process of CAT is important for the generation of thymic Tregs, which ultimately play a crucial role in the intestinal homeostasis.

In this study I have participated as a coauthor. I have mainly contributed by the bioinformatic analysis of large datasets. I have also contributed intellectually, through scientific discussion, experimental design, and critical reading of the manuscript.

Vobořil M, Březina J, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobeš J, Ballek O, Dobešová M, Manning J, Blumberg RS, Filipp D. A model of preferential pairing between epithelial and dendritic cells in thymic antigen transfer. *Elife. 2022 Jan 31;11:e71578. doi: 10.7554/eLife.71578.* 

# A novel conditional Aire allele enables cell-specific ablation of the immune tolerance regulator Aire

In this short study, we have generated a novel mouse model, which enables cre mediated cell typespecific depletion of *Aire* gene. We have also performed a rigorous validation of this model using several different cre drivers and comparison to whole-body Aire<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Interestingly, we have also found that thymic Aire expression does not affect fertility, which is severely diminished in whole-body Aire<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Due to the technical nature of this publication, it has no direct link to intestinal homeostasis. However, the generation of this mouse model enabled the identification of Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3 as the central regulators of immune response to *Candida albicans* (Dobeš et al., 2022), as described below.

In this study I have participated as a coauthor. I have mainly contributed by flow cytometry and gene expression validation of Aire deletion in several different mouse models. I have also critically read the manuscript.

Dobeš J, Edenhofer F, Vobořil M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Dobešová M, Čepková A, Klein L, Rajewsky K, Filipp D. A novel conditional Aire allele enables cell-specific ablation of the immune tolerance regulator Aire. *Eur J Immunol. 2018 Mar;48(3):546-548. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747267. Epub 2017 Dec 27.* 

# Aire-expressing ILC3-like cells in the lymph node display potent APC features

In this study we have investigated the cellular identity of extrathymic Aire<sup>+</sup> cells found in LNs. We discovered that these cells show both transcriptomic and protein signature of ILC3, marked by the expression of Roryt and the absence of other hematopoietic lineages markers. Since these cells express high levels of MCHII, it poses them close to previously identified MHCII<sup>+</sup> ILC3s (Hepworth et al., 2013), which play a major role in the tolerance to antigens form intestinal microbiota. Although recent studies found that Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells do not select microbiota-specific Tregs (Kedmi et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2022), the knowledge obtained in the study presented here was utilized by Jan Dobeš in a follow-up study, which identified Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells as the crucial regulators of the immune response to *Candida albicans* (Dobeš et al., 2022). While *Candida albicans* is normally well tolerated and behaves as a commensal, in immunosuppressed individuals and in APS-1 patients, *Candida albicans* can overgrow or even disseminate from gastrointestinal tract and cause severe complications.

Thus, the identification of Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3 fostered the discovery of an important mechanism that mediates homeostatic immune reactions in the intestine, which is needed to keep *Candida albicans* under immune control.

In this study I have participated as a coauthor. I have mainly contributed by flow cytometry phenotyping of Aire<sup>+</sup> ILC3-like cells. I have also critically read the manuscript.

Yamano T, Dobeš J, Vobořil M, Steinert M, <u>Brabec T</u>, Ziętara N, Dobešová M, Ohnmacht C, Laan M, Peterson P, Benes V, Sedláček R, Hanayama R, Kolář M, Klein L, Filipp D. Aire-expressing ILC3like cells in the lymph node display potent APC features. J Exp Med. 2019 Mar 27. pii: jem.20181430. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181430.

# Microbe-mediated intestinal NOD2 stimulation improves linear growth of undernourished infant mice

In this study we have shown that a specific strain of lactobacillus, *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* WJL, is able to alleviate detrimental effects of chronic undernutrition in infant mice through the activation of Nod2, intracellular PRR, in intestinal epithelium. *L. plantarum* WJL colonization increases the absorption surface of the intestinal epithelium by Nod2-dependent induction of epithelial proliferation. This ultimately results in better growth of infant mice facing chronic undernutrition on hypoprotidic and hypolipidic diet.

While this study goes beyond the concept of intestinal immune homeostasis, which I have introduced in the *Current state of knowledge* section, it illustrates how are immune mechanisms, such as the PRR-mediated recognition of commensal microbes, utilized in other physiologic processes. Also participating in this study allowed me to gain insight into cross-disciplinary research, which is currently one of the main sources of scientific advancement.

In this study I have participated as a coauthor. I have mainly contributed by the flow cytometry validation of mouse models through the analysis of cre-driven expression of fluorescent proteins. I have also contributed by discussion, bioinformatic analysis of previously obtained datasets and critical reading of the manuscript.

Schwarzer M, Gautam UK, Makki K, Lambert A, <u>Brabec T</u>, Joly A, Šrůtková D, Poinsot P, Novotná T, Geoffroy S, Courtin P, Hermanová PP, Matos RC, Landry JJM, Gérard C, Bulteau AL, Hudcovic T, Kozáková H, Filipp D, Chapot-Chartier MP, Šinkora M, Peretti N, Boneca IG, Chamaillard M, Vidal H, De Vadder F, Leulier F. Microbe-mediated intestinal NOD2 stimulation improves linear growth of undernourished infant mice. *Science.* 2023 Feb 24;379(6634):826-833. doi: 10.1126/science.ade9767.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

In the previous sections I have introduced a model of multilayered establishment of intestinal immune homeostasis, that is based on many previous studies integrated with novel findings, which I have presented here. The baseline of intestinal homeostasis is set in the thymus, where T-cells reactive to self-antigens are either eliminated or converted to Tregs, based on their affinity to peptide-MHC complexes and the abundance of self-antigens in the thymus. This is largely done by mTECs and their cooperation with thymic DCs.

In the original studies presented here, we have demonstrated the complexity of mTEC-DC cooperation network and we identified one of the novel mechanisms, which regulates CAT to CD14<sup>+</sup> cDCs and ultimately drives the generation of thymic Tregs that are crucial for intestinal homeostasis. While we found that this mechanism is dependent on TLR-mediated stimulation of mTECs, the source of TLR ligands inside the thymus is currently unknown. Since we showed that this mechanism is independent of intestinal microbiota, it is likely that TLR ligands are derived from endogenous sources. Possible source of these ligands could be apoptotic cells, as large amount of developing thymocytes undergo apoptosis due to their positive and negative selection in the thymus (Surh and Sprent, 1994). Dying cells can release many molecules, which can be recognized as endogenous PRR ligands, serving the purpose of so-called danger signals. One such example could be Hmgb1 protein, which is released from dying cells (Bell et al., 2006) and it is also recognized by some TLRs (Yu et al., 2006). In support of this hypothesis, it was found that increase in thymic apoptotic rate induces thymic Treg generation (Konkel et al., 2014), similar to TLR stimulation of mTECs (Vobořil et al., 2020).

We have also identified that thymic aDCs are the most efficient population in the antigen acquisition from mTECs. Outside of the thymus, DC activation occurs in the peripheral tissues after the recognition of antigen. This leads to the upregulation of antigen presentation machinery, costimulatory molecules and cytokines, which together enable efficient activation of cognate T-cells. At the same time activated DCs upregulate Ccr7, which enables them to migrate to draining lymph nodes, where cognate T-cell traffic (Liu et al., 2021). However, the situation in the thymus is very much different. First, it is unclear which signals lead to intrathymic DC activation. Similar to TLR stimulation of mTECs, cells dying inside the thymus can also serve the purpose of thymic cDC activation, since the uptake of apoptotic cells inside the tumor was shown to drive activation of local DCs, mounting a phenotype intriguingly similar to thymic aDCs (Maier et al., 2020). In the thymus, it is tempting to speculate that the uptake of dying mTECs could be the driving force of thymic aDC generation, since it would ensure the uptake of mTEC-produced TRAs. Second, it is unclear what is the function of Ccr7 expression in thymic aDCs. In this regard it is interesting to mention that Ccl21, the ligand for Ccr7, is expressed by a population of mTECs distinct from those expressing Aire. These mTECs use Ccl21 to attract developing thymocytes to the medulla once their positive selection is finished (Ueno et al., 2004; Witt et al., 2005). Thus, it is possible that aDCs use Ccr7 to migrate to the vicinity of Ccl21<sup>+</sup> mTECs. Since

these mTECs do not express Aire and thus nor TRAs, it is possible that TRA-fed aDCs might use this mechanism to extend TRA presentation to this niche of the thymus medulla. Importantly, the identification of mechanisms that drive aDC generation would enable the determination of physiological role of thymic aDCs, which is currently unknown.

In the intestine, the thymic T-cell selection is complemented by the process of oral tolerance, which ensures the selection of T-cells reactive to food and microbiota antigens and their conversion to Tregs. Through the review of previous studies, I have provided a mechanistic insight into the processes, which ensure acquisition of these antigens, their presentation and finally effector mechanisms that enforce oral tolerance. However, microbial antigens cannot be simply ignored, as their donors, intestinal microbes, might overgrow and perturb intestinal homeostasis. Thus, the disruption of the tightly regulated equilibrium between the tolerance to these antigens and homeostatic immune responses may result in severe intestinal pathology.

In a central study of this thesis, we have identified IL-17 mediated stimulation of PCs as one of the mechanisms used by the intestinal immune system to regulate intestinal microbiota and thus prevent intestinal pathology. We have shown that IL-17 preferentially stimulated the expression of a specific set of PC-produced enteric  $\alpha$ -defensins, Defa20, Defa21, Defa22 being the most dominant. Previous findings that these antimicrobial peptides are mostly limited to the ileum (Castillo et al., 2019; Haber et al., 2017) suggest a specific microbiota regulatory mechanism in this region. This notion would fit with our observation that mice with PC specific deletion of IL-17 receptor show microbiota alteration as well as inflammation susceptibility specifically in the ileum. However, it is currently unclear if ileumspecific defensins bear a different antimicrobial function than the rest of defensins produced by PCs, different specificity for some microbes or just increase the overall microbicidal capacity of ileal PCs. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that a sub cohort of CD patients develop ileum restricted pathology, that is associated with the drop in the production of PCs defensins (Wehkamp et al., 2005). While we did provide an analysis of CD patients and shown that even in humans, IL-17 might contribute to intestinal homeostasis through the induction of PC antimicrobial functions, we analyzed only a small cohort of patients. Thus, we were unable to correlate IL-17 function with ileum-specific pathology. Since mutations in Th17-associated genes are often found in patients with CD (Jostins et al., 2012), future research should clarify, if IL-17 mediated stimulation of PC antimicrobial functions plays a role in the pathogenesis of ileal form of CD.

We have also shown that the susceptibility to ileum pathology is conveyed by the disruption of microbial community in this tissue. However, the only reproducible microbial change we were able to detect in mice with PC specific deletion of IL-17 receptor was the drop in microbial diversity and we did not observe overgrowth of any specific bacterial strains. Thus, it is unclear what change in the microbiota quality drives the intestinal pathology. To address this question, future research should move from general quantification of microbiota composition to the analysis of microbiota functionality. One

of the possible avenues of this research could be the analysis of functional genetics, such as scRNA-seq, of the intestinal microbiota (Kuchina et al., 2021). As the application of this approach on mammalian cells and tissues recently lead to the rapid development of many biological fields, we are yet to see wide-spread usage of this method in microbiota research. I believe that the combination of multiparametric analysis of intestinal immune system and epithelial compartment together with functional analysis of local microbiota might facilitate dramatic advances in the understanding of host-microbe interactions, which ensure their homeostatic co-habitation. However, although the application of this method in human patients might be the most straightforward way to take, I think that usage of mouse models, which allow a precise analysis of specific mechanisms used in the intestinal homeostasis will still be indispensable.

In summary, we have brought several new findings identifying new mechanisms of thymic T-cell selection and effector mechanisms used by the intestinal immune system to control intestinal microbiota. I have integrated our findings with previous studies, to deliver a bigger picture of how these processes collaborate to ensure intestinal homeostasis.

#### References

- Akagbosu, B., Z. Tayyebi, G. Shibu, Y.A. Paucar Iza, D. Deep, Y.F. Parisotto, L. Fisher, H.A. Pasolli, V. Thevin, R. Elmentaite, M. Knott, S. Hemmers, L. Jahn, C. Friedrich, J. Verter, Z.M. Wang, M. van den Brink, G. Gasteiger, T.G.P. Grünewald, J.C. Marie, C. Leslie, A.Y. Rudensky, and C.C. Brown. 2022. Novel antigen-presenting cell imparts Treg-dependent tolerance to gut microbiota. *Nature* 610:752-760.
- Al Nabhani, Z., S. Dulauroy, R. Marques, C. Cousu, S. Al Bounny, F. Déjardin, T. Sparwasser, M. Bérard, N. Cerf-Bensussan, and G. Eberl. 2019. A Weaning Reaction to Microbiota Is Required for Resistance to Immunopathologies in the Adult. *Immunity* 50:1276-1288.e1275.
- Anderson, M.S., E.S. Venanzi, L. Klein, Z. Chen, S.P. Berzins, S.J. Turley, H. von Boehmer, R. Bronson, A. Dierich, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2002. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* 298:1395-1401.
- Aschenbrenner, K., L.M. D'Cruz, E.H. Vollmann, M. Hinterberger, J. Emmerich, L.K. Swee, A. Rolink, and L. Klein. 2007. Selection of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells specific for self antigen expressed and presented by Aire(+) medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Nature Immunology* 8:351-358.
- Atarashi, K., T. Tanoue, M. Ando, N. Kamada, Y. Nagano, S. Narushima, W. Suda, A. Imaoka, H. Setoyama, T. Nagamori, E. Ishikawa, T. Shima, T. Hara, S. Kado, T. Jinnohara, H. Ohno, T. Kondo, K. Toyooka, E. Watanabe, S. Yokoyama, S. Tokoro, H. Mori, Y. Noguchi, H. Morita, Ivanov, II, T. Sugiyama, G. Nunez, J.G. Camp, M. Hattori, Y. Umesaki, and K. Honda. 2015. Th17 Cell Induction by Adhesion of Microbes to Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Cell* 163:367-380.
- Atarashi, K., T. Tanoue, K. Oshima, W. Suda, Y. Nagano, H. Nishikawa, S. Fukuda, T. Saito, S. Narushima, K. Hase, S. Kim, J.V. Fritz, P. Wilmes, S. Ueha, K. Matsushima, H. Ohno, B. Olle, S. Sakaguchi, T. Taniguchi, H. Morita, M. Hattori, and K. Honda. 2013. T-reg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. *Nature* 500:232-+.
- Ayabe, T., D.P. Satchell, C.L. Wilson, W.C. Parks, M.E. Selsted, and A.J. Ouellette. 2000. Secretion of microbicidal alpha-defensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. *Nature Immunology* 1:113-118.
- Bach, J.F. 2002. The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. *N Engl J Med* 347:911-920.
- Bansal, K., H. Yoshida, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2017. The transcriptional regulator Aire binds to and activates super-enhancers. *Nat Immunol* 18:263-273.
- Bell, C.W., W. Jiang, C.F. Reich, and D.S. Pisetsky. 2006. The extracellular release of HMGB1 during apoptotic cell death. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 291:C1318-1325.
- Belz, G.T., G.M. Behrens, C.M. Smith, J.F. Miller, C. Jones, K. Lejon, C.G. Fathman, S.N. Mueller, K. Shortman, F.R. Carbone, and W.R. Heath. 2002. The CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell is responsible for inducing peripheral self-tolerance to tissue-associated antigens. *J Exp Med* 196:1099-1104.
- Bennett, C.L., J. Christie, F. Ramsdell, M.E. Brunkow, P.J. Ferguson, L. Whitesell, T.E. Kelly, F.T. Saulsbury, P.F. Chance, and H.D. Ochs. 2001. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. *Nature Genetics* 27:20-21.
- Benson, M.J., K. Pino-Lagos, M. Rosemblatt, and R.J. Noelle. 2007. All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204:1765-1774.
- Bevins, C.L., and N.H. Salzman. 2011. Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 9:356-368.
- Bonasio, R., M.L. Scimone, P. Schaerli, N. Grabie, A.H. Lichtman, and U.H. von Andrian. 2006. Clonal deletion of thymocytes by circulating dendritic cells homing to the thymus. *Nature Immunology* 7:1092-1100.
- Bornstein, C., S. Nevo, A. Giladi, N. Kadouri, M. Pouzolles, F. Gerbe, E. David, A. Machado, A. Chuprin, B. Tóth, O. Goldberg, S. Itzkovitz, N. Taylor, P. Jay, V.S. Zimmermann, J. Abramson, and I. Amit. 2018. Single-cell mapping of the thymic stroma identifies IL-25-producing tuft epithelial cells. *Nature* 559:622-626.

- Brabec, T., M. Vobořil, D. Schierova, E. Valter, I. Splichalova, J. Dobeš, J. Brezina, M. Dobesova, A. Aidarova, M. Jakubec, J. Manning, R. Blumberg, A. Waissman, M. Kolar, J. Kubovciak, D. Srutkova, T. Hudcovic, M. Schwarzer, E. Fronkova, T. Pinkasova, P. Jabandziev, and D. Filipp. 2023. IL-17 driven induction of Paneth cell antimicrobial functions protects the host from microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation in the ileum. *Mucosal Immunol*
- Brandtzaeg, P. 1998. Development and Basic Mechanisms of Human Gut Immunity. *Nutrition Reviews* 56:S5-S18.
- Breed, E.R., M. Vobořil, K.M. Ashby, R.J. Martinez, L. Qian, H. Wang, O.C. Salgado, C.H. O'Connor, and K.A. Hogquist. 2022. Type 2 cytokines in the thymus activate Sirpa. *Nat Immunol* 23:1042-1051.
- Brennecke, P., A. Reyes, S. Pinto, K. Rattay, M. Nguyen, R. Küchler, W. Huber, B. Kyewski, and L.M. Steinmetz. 2015. Single-cell transcriptome analysis reveals coordinated ectopic gene-expression patterns in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* 16:933-941.
- Cassani, B., E.J. Villablanca, F.J. Quintana, P.E. Love, A. Lacy-Hulbert, W.S. Blaner, T. Sparwasser, S.B. Snapper, H.L. Weiner, and J.R. Mora. 2011. Gut-tropic T cells that express integrin  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  and CCR9 are required for induction of oral immune tolerance in mice. *Gastroenterology* 141:2109-2118.
- Castillo, P.A., E.B. Nonnecke, D.T. Ossorio, M.T.N. Tran, S.M. Goley, B. Lönnerdal, M.A. Underwood, and C.L. Bevins. 2019. An Experimental Approach to Rigorously Assess Paneth Cell α-Defensin (Defa) mRNA Expression in C57BL/6 Mice. *Sci Rep* 9:13115.
- Cerovic, V., S.A. Houston, C.L. Scott, A. Aumeunier, U. Yrlid, A.M. Mowat, and S.W. Milling. 2013. Intestinal CD103(-) dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 6:104-113.
- Cerovic, V., S.A. Houston, J. Westlund, L. Utriainen, E.S. Davison, C.L. Scott, C.C. Bain, T. Joeris, W.W. Agace, R.A. Kroczek, A.M. Mowat, U. Yrlid, and S.W. Milling. 2015. Lymph-borne CD8α+ dendritic cells are uniquely able to cross-prime CD8+ T cells with antigen acquired from intestinal epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 8:38-48.
- Chen, Y., J. Inobe, R. Marks, P. Gonnella, V.K. Kuchroo, and H.L. Weiner. 1995. Peripheral deletion of antigen-reactive T cells in oral tolerance. *Nature* 376:177-180.
- Chen, Y.H., and H.L. Weiner. 1996. Dose-dependent activation and deletion of antigen-specific T cells following oral tolerance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 778:111-121.
- Chieppa, M., M. Rescigno, A.Y. Huang, and R.N. Germain. 2006. Dynamic imaging of dendritic cell extension into the small bowel lumen in response to epithelial cell TLR engagement. *J Exp Med* 203:2841-2852.
- Clevers, H.C., and C.L. Bevins. 2013. Paneth cells: maestros of the small intestinal crypts. *Annu Rev Physiol* 75:289-311.
- Consortium, F.-G.A. 1997. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* 17:399-403.
- Coombes, J.L., K.R.R. Siddiqui, C.V. Arancibia-Carcamo, J. Hall, C.M. Sun, Y. Belkaid, and F. Powrie. 2007. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103(+) DCs induces Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta- and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204:1757-1764.
- Couturier-Maillard, A., T. Secher, A. Rehman, S. Normand, A. De Arcangelis, R. Haesler, L. Huot, T. Grandjean, A. Bressenot, A. Delanoye-Crespin, O. Gaillot, S. Schreiber, Y. Lemoine, B. Ryffel, D. Hot, G. Nùñez, G. Chen, P. Rosenstiel, and M. Chamaillard. 2013. NOD2-mediated dysbiosis predisposes mice to transmissible colitis and colorectal cancer. *J Clin Invest* 123:700-711.
- den Haan, J.M., S.M. Lehar, and M.J. Bevan. 2000. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. *J Exp Med* 192:1685-1696.
- Ding, Z., T. Cai, J. Tang, H. Sun, X. Qi, Y. Zhang, Y. Ji, L. Yuan, H. Chang, Y. Ma, H. Zhou, L. Li, H. Sheng, and J. Qiu. 2022. Setd2 supports GATA3+ST2+ thymic-derived Treg cells and suppresses intestinal inflammation. *Nat Commun* 13:7468.
- Dobeš, J., O. Ben-Nun, A. Binyamin, L. Stoler-Barak, B.E. Oftedal, Y. Goldfarb, N. Kadouri, Y. Gruper, T. Givony, I. Zalayat, K. Kováčová, H. Böhmová, E. Valter, Z. Shulman, D. Filipp, E.S. Husebye, and J. Abramson. 2022. Extrathymic expression of Aire controls the induction

of effective TH17 cell-mediated immune response to Candida albicans. *Nat Immunol* 23:1098-1108.

- Dobeš, J., A. Neuwirth, M. Dobešová, M. Vobořil, J. Balounová, O. Ballek, J. Lebl, A. Meloni, K. Krohn, N. Kluger, A. Ranki, and D. Filipp. 2015. Gastrointestinal Autoimmunity Associated With Loss of Central Tolerance to Enteric α-Defensins. *Gastroenterology* 149:139-150.
- Elinav, E., T. Strowig, A.L. Kau, J. Henao-Mejia, C.A. Thaiss, C.J. Booth, D.R. Peaper, J. Bertin, S.C. Eisenbarth, J.I. Gordon, and R.A. Flavell. 2011. NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis. *Cell* 145:745-757.
- Esterházy, D., J. Loschko, M. London, V. Jove, T.Y. Oliveira, and D. Mucida. 2016. Classical dendritic cells are required for dietary antigen-mediated induction of peripheral T(reg) cells and tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 17:545-555.
- Farin, H.F., W.R. Karthaus, P. Kujala, M. Rakhshandehroo, G. Schwank, R.G. Vries, E. Kalkhoven, E.E. Nieuwenhuis, and H. Clevers. 2014. Paneth cell extrusion and release of antimicrobial products is directly controlled by immune cell-derived IFN-γ. J Exp Med 211:1393-1405.
- Flannigan, K.L., V.L. Ngo, D. Geem, A. Harusato, S.A. Hirota, C.A. Parkos, N.W. Lukacs, A. Nusrat, V. Gaboriau-Routhiau, N. Cerf-Bensussan, A.T. Gewirtz, and T.L. Denning. 2017. IL-17Amediated neutrophil recruitment limits expansion of segmented filamentous bacteria. *Mucosal Immunol* 10:673-684.
- Fontenot, J.D., M.A. Gavin, and A.Y. Rudensky. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4:330-336.
- Fontenot, J.D., J.P. Rasmussen, L.M. Williams, J.L. Dooley, A.G. Farr, and A.Y. Rudensky. 2005. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor FoxP3. *Immunity* 22:329-341.
- Franzosa, E.A., A. Sirota-Madi, J. Avila-Pacheco, N. Fornelos, H.J. Haiser, S. Reinker, T. Vatanen, A.B. Hall, H. Mallick, L.J. McIver, J.S. Sauk, R.G. Wilson, B.W. Stevens, J.M. Scott, K. Pierce, A.A. Deik, K. Bullock, F. Imhann, J.A. Porter, A. Zhernakova, J. Fu, R.K. Weersma, C. Wijmenga, C.B. Clish, H. Vlamakis, C. Huttenhower, and R.J. Xavier. 2019. Gut microbiome structure and metabolic activity in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Microbiol* 4:293-305.
- Friedman, A., and H.L. Weiner. 1994. Induction of anergy or active suppression following oral tolerance is determined by antigen dosage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:6688-6692.
- Gaboriau-Routhiau, V., S. Rakotobe, E. Lecuyer, I. Mulder, A. Lan, C. Bridonneau, V. Rochet, A. Pisi, M. De Paepe, G. Brandi, G. Eberl, J. Snel, D. Kelly, and N. Cerf-Bensussan. 2009. The Key Role of Segmented Filamentous Bacteria in the Coordinated Maturation of Gut Helper T Cell Responses. *Immunity* 31:677-689.
- Geem, D., O. Medina-Contreras, M. McBride, R.D. Newberry, P.A. Koni, and T.L. Denning. 2014. Specific microbiota-induced intestinal Th17 differentiation requires MHC class II but not GALT and mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Immunol* 193:431-438.
- Geuking, M.B., and R. Burkhard. 2020. Microbial modulation of intestinal T helper cell responses and implications for disease and therapy. *Mucosal Immunol* 13:855-866.
- Gevers, D., S. Kugathasan, L.A. Denson, Y. Vázquez-Baeza, W. Van Treuren, B. Ren, E. Schwager, D. Knights, S.J. Song, M. Yassour, X.C. Morgan, A.D. Kostic, C. Luo, A. González, D. McDonald, Y. Haberman, T. Walters, S. Baker, J. Rosh, M. Stephens, M. Heyman, J. Markowitz, R. Baldassano, A. Griffiths, F. Sylvester, D. Mack, S. Kim, W. Crandall, J. Hyams, C. Huttenhower, R. Knight, and R.J. Xavier. 2014. The treatment-naive microbiome in newonset Crohn's disease. *Cell Host Microbe* 15:382-392.
- Goto, Y., C. Panea, G. Nakato, A. Cebula, C. Lee, M.G. Diez, T.M. Laufer, L. Ignatowicz, and Ivanov, II. 2014. Segmented Filamentous Bacteria Antigens Presented by Intestinal Dendritic Cells Drive Mucosal Th17 Cell Differentiation. *Immunity* 40:594-607.
- Gustafsson, J.K., J.E. Davis, T. Rappai, K.G. McDonald, D.H. Kulkarni, K.A. Knoop, S.P. Hogan, J.A. Fitzpatrick, W.I. Lencer, and R.D. Newberry. 2021. Intestinal goblet cells sample and deliver lumenal antigens by regulated endocytic uptake and transcytosis. *Elife* 10:
- Haber, A.L., M. Biton, N. Rogel, R.H. Herbst, K. Shekhar, C. Smillie, G. Burgin, T.M. Delorey, M.R. Howitt, Y. Katz, I. Tirosh, S. Beyaz, D. Dionne, M. Zhang, R. Raychowdhury, W.S. Garrett, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, H.N. Shi, O. Yilmaz, R.J. Xavier, and A. Regev. 2017. A single-cell survey of the small intestinal epithelium. *Nature* 551:333-339.

- Hadeiba, H., K. Lahl, A. Edalati, C. Oderup, A. Habtezion, R. Pachynski, L. Nguyen, A. Ghodsi, S. Adler, and E.C. Butcher. 2012. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Transport Peripheral Antigens to the Thymus to Promote Central Tolerance. *Immunity* 36:438-450.
- Hadis, U., B. Wahl, O. Schulz, M. Hardtke-Wolenski, A. Schippers, N. Wagner, W. Müller, T. Sparwasser, R. Förster, and O. Pabst. 2011. Intestinal tolerance requires gut homing and expansion of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in the lamina propria. *Immunity* 34:237-246.
- Hammerschmidt, S.I., M. Ahrendt, U. Bode, B. Wahl, E. Kremmer, R. Förster, and O. Pabst. 2008. Stromal mesenteric lymph node cells are essential for the generation of gut-homing T cells in vivo. J Exp Med 205:2483-2490.
- Hase, K., K. Kawano, T. Nochi, G.S. Pontes, S. Fukuda, M. Ebisawa, K. Kadokura, T. Tobe, Y. Fujimura, S. Kawano, A. Yabashi, S. Waguri, G. Nakato, S. Kimura, T. Murakami, M. Iimura, K. Hamura, S. Fukuoka, A.W. Lowe, K. Itoh, H. Kiyono, and H. Ohno. 2009. Uptake through glycoprotein 2 of FimH(+) bacteria by M cells initiates mucosal immune response. *Nature* 462:226-230.
- Hase, K., T. Murakami, H. Takatsu, T. Shimaoka, M. Iimura, K. Hamura, K. Kawano, S. Ohshima, R. Chihara, K. Itoh, S. Yonehara, and H. Ohno. 2006. The membrane-bound chemokine CXCL16 expressed on follicle-associated epithelium and M cells mediates lympho-epithelial interaction in GALT. *J Immunol* 176:43-51.
- Hedblom, G.A., H.A. Reiland, M.J. Sylte, T.J. Johnson, and D.J. Baumler. 2018. Segmented Filamentous Bacteria Metabolism Meets Immunity. *Front Microbiol* 9:1991.
- Hepworth, M.R., T.C. Fung, S.H. Masur, J.R. Kelsen, F.M. McConnell, J. Dubrot, D.R. Withers, S. Hugues, M.A. Farrar, W. Reith, G. Eberl, R.N. Baldassano, T.M. Laufer, C.O. Elson, and G.F. Sonnenberg. 2015. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells mediate intestinal selection of commensal bacteria-specific CD4(+) T cells. *Science* 348:1031-1035.
- Hepworth, M.R., L.A. Monticelli, T.C. Fung, C.G.K. Ziegler, S. Grunberg, R. Sinha, A.R. Mantegazza, H.L. Ma, A. Crawford, J.M. Angelosanto, E.J. Wherry, P.A. Koni, F.D. Bushman, C.O. Elson, G. Eberl, D. Artis, and G.F. Sonnenberg. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells regulate CD4(+) T-cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria. *Nature* 498:113-+.
- Hilmenyuk, T., I. Bellinghausen, B. Heydenreich, A. Ilchmann, M. Toda, S. Grabbe, and J. Saloga. 2010. Effects of glycation of the model food allergen ovalbumin on antigen uptake and presentation by human dendritic cells. *Immunology* 129:437-445.
- Hinterberger, M., M. Aichinger, O.P. da Costa, D. Voehringer, R. Hoffmann, and L. Klein. 2010. Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nature Immunology* 11:512-U580.
- Hong, S.W., P.D. Krueger, K.C. Osum, T. Dileepan, A. Herman, D.L. Mueller, and M.K. Jenkins. 2022. Immune tolerance of food is mediated by layers of CD4+ T cell dysfunction. *Nature* 607:762-768.
- Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299:1057-1061.
- Hsu, S.C., T.H. Tsai, H. Kawasaki, C.H. Chen, B. Plunkett, R.T. Lee, Y.C. Lee, and S.K. Huang. 2007. Antigen coupled with Lewis-x trisaccharides elicits potent immune responses in mice. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 119:1522-1528.
- Huppler, A.R., S. Bishu, and S.L. Gaffen. 2012. Mucocutaneous candidiasis: the IL-17 pathway and implications for targeted immunotherapy. *Arthritis Res Ther* 14:217.
- Idoyaga, J., C. Fiorese, L. Zbytnuik, A. Lubkin, J. Miller, B. Malissen, D. Mucida, M. Merad, and R.M. Steinman. 2013. Specialized role of migratory dendritic cells in peripheral tolerance induction. *J Clin Invest* 123:844-854.
- Iliev, I.D., E. Mileti, G. Matteoli, M. Chieppa, and M. Rescigno. 2009. Intestinal epithelial cells promote colitis-protective regulatory T-cell differentiation through dendritic cell conditioning. *Mucosal Immunol* 2:340-350.
- Ivanov, I.I., K. Atarashi, N. Manel, E.L. Brodie, T. Shima, U. Karaoz, D. Wei, K.C. Goldfarb, C.A. Santee, S.V. Lynch, T. Tanoue, A. Imaoka, K. Itoh, K. Takeda, Y. Umesaki, K. Honda, and D.R. Littman. 2009. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* 139:485-498.

- Iwata, M., A. Hirakiyama, Y. Eshima, H. Kagechika, C. Kato, and S.Y. Song. 2004. Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* 21:527-538.
- Jang, M.H., M.N. Kweon, K. Iwatani, M. Yamamoto, K. Terahara, C. Sasakawa, T. Suzuki, T. Nochi, Y. Yokota, P.D. Rennert, T. Hiroi, H. Tamagawa, H. Iijima, J. Kunisawa, Y. Yuki, and H. Kiyono. 2004. Intestinal villous M cells: An antigen entry site in the mucosal epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101:6110-6115.
- Jiang, H.Q., N.A. Bos, and J.J. Cebra. 2001. Timing, localization, and persistence of colonization by segmented filamentous bacteria in the neonatal mouse gut depend on immune status of mothers and pups. *Infect Immun* 69:3611-3617.
- Johansson, M.E., J.M. Larsson, and G.C. Hansson. 2011. The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 108 Suppl 1:4659-4665.
- Jordan, M.S., A. Boesteanu, A.J. Reed, A.L. Petrone, A.E. Holenbeck, M.A. Lerman, A. Naji, and A.J. Caton. 2001. Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist selfpeptide. *Nat Immunol* 2:301-306.
- Josefowicz, S.Z., R.E. Niec, H.Y. Kim, P. Treuting, T. Chinen, Y. Zheng, D.T. Umetsu, and A.Y. Rudensky. 2012. Extrathymically generated regulatory T cells control mucosal TH2 inflammation. *Nature* 482:395-399.
- Jostins, L., S. Ripke, R.K. Weersma, R.H. Duerr, D.P. McGovern, K.Y. Hui, J.C. Lee, L.P. Schumm, Y. Sharma, C.A. Anderson, J. Essers, M. Mitrovic, K. Ning, I. Cleynen, E. Theatre, S.L. Spain, S. Raychaudhuri, P. Goyette, Z. Wei, C. Abraham, J.P. Achkar, T. Ahmad, L. Amininejad, A.N. Ananthakrishnan, V. Andersen, J.M. Andrews, L. Baidoo, T. Balschun, P.A. Bampton, A. Bitton, G. Boucher, S. Brand, C. Buning, A. Cohain, S. Cichon, M. D'Amato, D. De Jong, K.L. Devaney, M. Dubinsky, C. Edwards, D. Ellinghaus, L.R. Ferguson, D. Franchimont, K. Fransen, R. Gearry, M. Georges, C. Gieger, J. Glas, T. Haritunians, A. Hart, C. Hawkey, M. Hedl, X.L. Hu, T.H. Karlsen, L. Kupcinskas, S. Kugathasan, A. Latiano, D. Laukens, I.C. Lawrance, C.W. Lees, E. Louis, G. Mahy, J. Mansfield, A.R. Morgan, C. Mowat, W. Newman, O. Palmieri, C.Y. Ponsioen, U. Potocnik, N.J. Prescott, M. Regueiro, J.I. Rotter, R.K. Russell, J.D. Sanderson, M. Sans, J. Satsangi, S. Schreiber, L.A. Simms, J. Sventoraityte, S.R. Targan, K.D. Taylor, M. Tremelling, H.W. Verspaget, M. De Vos, C. Wijmenga, D.C. Wilson, J. Winkelmann, R.J. Xavier, S. Zeissig, B. Zhang, C.K. Zhang, H.Y. Zhao, M.S. Silverberg, V. Annese, H. Hakonarson, S.R. Brant, G. Radford-Smith, C.G. Mathew, J.D. Rioux, E.E. Schadt, M.J. Daly, A. Franke, M. Parkes, S. Vermeire, J.C. Barrett, J.H. Cho, and I.B.D.G.C.I. Int. 2012. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 491:119-124.
- Kadaoui, K.A., and B. Corthésy. 2007. Secretory IgA mediates bacterial translocation to dendritic cells in mouse Peyer's patches with restriction to mucosal compartment. *J Immunol* 179:7751-7757.
- Kanaya, T., K. Hase, D. Takahashi, S. Fukuda, K. Hoshino, I. Sasaki, H. Hemmi, K.A. Knoop, N. Kumar, M. Sato, T. Katsuno, O. Yokosuka, K. Toyooka, K. Nakai, A. Sakamoto, Y. Kitahara, T. Jinnohara, S.J. McSorley, T. Kaisho, I.R. Williams, and H. Ohno. 2012. The Ets transcription factor Spi-B is essential for the differentiation of intestinal microfold cells. *Nat Immunol* 13:729-736.
- Katakai, T., H. Suto, M. Sugai, H. Gonda, A. Togawa, S. Suematsu, Y. Ebisuno, K. Katagiri, T. Kinashi, and A. Shimizu. 2008. Organizer-like reticular stromal cell layer common to adult secondary lymphoid organs. *J Immunol* 181:6189-6200.
- Kedmi, R., T.A. Najar, K.R. Mesa, A. Grayson, L. Kroehling, Y. Hao, S. Hao, M. Pokrovskii, M. Xu, J. Talbot, J. Wang, J. Germino, C.A. Lareau, A.T. Satpathy, M.S. Anderson, T.M. Laufer, I. Aifantis, J.M. Bartleson, P.M. Allen, H. Paidassi, J.M. Gardner, M. Stoeckius, and D.R. Littman. 2022. A RORγt+ cell instructs gut microbiota-specific Treg cell differentiation. *Nature* 610:737-743.
- Kim, J.M., J.P. Rasmussen, and A.Y. Rudensky. 2007. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. *Nat Immunol* 8:191-197.

- Kim, K.S., S.W. Hong, D. Han, J. Yi, J. Jung, B.G. Yang, J.Y. Lee, M. Lee, and C.D. Surh. 2016. Dietary antigens limit mucosal immunity by inducing regulatory T cells in the small intestine. *Science* 351:858-863.
- Kinnebrew, M.A., C.G. Buffie, G.E. Diehl, L.A. Zenewicz, I. Leiner, T.M. Hohl, R.A. Flavell, D.R. Littman, and E.G. Pamer. 2012. Interleukin 23 production by intestinal CD103(+)CD11b(+) dendritic cells in response to bacterial flagellin enhances mucosal innate immune defense. *Immunity* 36:276-287.
- Klein, L., B. Kyewski, P.M. Allen, and K.A. Hogquist. 2014. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol* 14:377-391.
- Klein, L., E.A. Robey, and C.S. Hsieh. 2019. Central CD4+ T cell tolerance: deletion versus regulatory T cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 19:7-18.
- Knoop, K.A., J.K. Gustafsson, K.G. McDonald, D.H. Kulkarni, P.E. Coughlin, S. McCrate, D. Kim, C.S. Hsieh, S.P. Hogan, C.O. Elson, P.I. Tarr, and R.D. Newberry. 2017. Microbial antigen encounter during a preweaning interval is critical for tolerance to gut bacteria. *Sci Immunol* 2:
- Knoop, K.A., N. Kumar, B.R. Butler, S.K. Sakthivel, R.T. Taylor, T. Nochi, H. Akiba, H. Yagita, H. Kiyono, and I.R. Williams. 2009. RANKL is necessary and sufficient to initiate development of antigen-sampling M cells in the intestinal epithelium. *J Immunol* 183:5738-5747.
- Koble, C., and B. Kyewski. 2009. The thymic medulla: a unique microenvironment for intercellular self-antigen transfer. *J Exp Med* 206:1505-1513.
- Konkel, J.E., W. Jin, B. Abbatiello, J.R. Grainger, and W. Chen. 2014. Thymocyte apoptosis drives the intrathymic generation of regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 111:E465-473.
- Kuchina, A., L.M. Brettner, L. Paleologu, C.M. Roco, A.B. Rosenberg, A. Carignano, R. Kibler, M. Hirano, R.W. DePaolo, and G. Seelig. 2021. Microbial single-cell RNA sequencing by split-pool barcoding. *Science* 371:
- Kulkarni, D.H., J.K. Gustafsson, K.A. Knoop, K.G. McDonald, S.S. Bidani, J.E. Davis, A.N. Floyd, S.P. Hogan, C.S. Hsieh, and R.D. Newberry. 2020. Goblet cell associated antigen passages support the induction and maintenance of oral tolerance. *Mucosal Immunol* 13:271-282.
- Kumar, P., L. Monin, P. Castillo, W. Elsegeiny, W. Horne, T. Eddens, A. Vikram, M. Good, A.A. Schoenborn, K. Bibby, R.C. Montelaro, D.W. Metzger, A.S. Gulati, and J.K. Kolls. 2016. Intestinal Interleukin-17 Receptor Signaling Mediates Reciprocal Control of the Gut Microbiota and Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* 44:659-671.
- Ladinsky, M.S., L.P. Araujo, X. Zhang, J. Veltri, M. Galan-Diez, S. Soualhi, C. Lee, K. Irie, E.Y. Pinker, S. Narushima, S. Bandyopadhyay, M. Nagayama, W. Elhenawy, B.K. Coombes, R.P. Ferraris, K. Honda, I.D. Iliev, N. Gao, P.J. Bjorkman, and I.I. Ivanov. 2019. Endocytosis of commensal antigens by intestinal epithelial cells regulates mucosal T cell homeostasis. *Science* 363:
- Lecuyer, E., S. Rakotobe, H. Lengline-Garnier, C. Lebreton, M. Picard, C. Juste, R. Fritzen, G. Eberl, K.D. McCoy, A.J. Macpherson, C.A. Reynaud, N. Cerf-Bensussan, and V. Gaboriau-Routhiau. 2014. Segmented Filamentous Bacterium Uses Secondary and Tertiary Lymphoid Tissues to Induce Gut IgA and Specific T Helper 17 Cell Responses. *Immunity* 40:608-620.
- Legoux, F.P., J.B. Lim, A.W. Cauley, S. Dikiy, J. Ertelt, T.J. Mariani, T. Sparwasser, S.S. Way, and J.J. Moon. 2015. CD4+ T Cell Tolerance to Tissue-Restricted Self Antigens Is Mediated by Antigen-Specific Regulatory T Cells Rather Than Deletion. *Immunity* 43:896-908.
- Leventhal, D.S., D.C. Gilmore, J.M. Berger, S. Nishi, V. Lee, S. Malchow, D.E. Kline, J. Kline, D.J. Vander Griend, H. Huang, N.D. Socci, and P.A. Savage. 2016. Dendritic Cells Coordinate the Development and Homeostasis of Organ-Specific Regulatory T Cells. *Immunity* 44:847-859.
- Lin, X., S.J. Gaudino, K.K. Jang, T. Bahadur, A. Singh, A. Banerjee, M. Beaupre, T. Chu, H.T. Wong, C.K. Kim, C. Kempen, J. Axelrad, H. Huang, S. Khalid, V. Shah, O. Eskiocak, O.B. Parks, A. Berisha, J.P. McAleer, M. Good, M. Hoshino, R. Blumberg, A.B. Bialkowska, S.L. Gaffen, J.K. Kolls, V.W. Yang, S. Beyaz, K. Cadwell, and P. Kumar. 2022. IL-17RA-signaling in Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells induces expression of transcription factor ATOH1 to promote secretory cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* 55:237-253.e238.
- Liston, A., S. Lesage, J. Wilson, L. Peltonen, and C.C. Goodnow. 2003. Aire regulates negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nature Immunology* 4:350-354.

- Liu, H., B. Hu, D. Xu, and F.Y. Liew. 2003. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells cure murine colitis: the role of IL-10, TGF-beta, and CTLA4. *J Immunol* 171:5012-5017.
- Liu, J., X. Zhang, Y. Cheng, and X. Cao. 2021. Dendritic cell migration in inflammation and immunity. *Cell Mol Immunol* 18:2461-2471.
- Lodes, M.J., Y. Cong, C.O. Elson, R. Mohamath, C.J. Landers, S.R. Targan, M. Fort, and R.M. Hershberg. 2004. Bacterial flagellin is a dominant antigen in Crohn disease. *J Clin Invest* 113:1296-1306.
- Lyu, M., H. Suzuki, L. Kang, F. Gaspal, W. Zhou, J. Goc, L. Zhou, J. Zhou, W. Zhang, Z. Shen, J.G. Fox, R.E. Sockolow, T.M. Laufer, Y. Fan, G. Eberl, D.R. Withers, G.F. Sonnenberg, and J.L.C. Bank. 2022. ILC3s select microbiota-specific regulatory T cells to establish tolerance in the gut. *Nature* 610:744-751.
- Mabbott, N.A., D.S. Donaldson, H. Ohno, I.R. Williams, and A. Mahajan. 2013. Microfold (M) cells: important immunosurveillance posts in the intestinal epithelium. *Mucosal Immunology* 6:666-677.
- Mackley, E.C., S. Houston, C.L. Marriott, E.E. Halford, B. Lucas, V. Cerovic, K.J. Filbey, R.M. Maizels, M.R. Hepworth, G.F. Sonnenberg, S. Milling, and D.R. Withers. 2015. CCR7-dependent trafficking of RORγ<sup>+</sup> ILCs creates a unique microenvironment within mucosal draining lymph nodes. *Nat Commun* 6:5862.
- Maier, B., A.M. Leader, S.T. Chen, N. Tung, C. Chang, J. LeBerichel, A. Chudnovskiy, S. Maskey, L. Walker, J.P. Finnigan, M.E. Kirkling, B. Reizis, S. Ghosh, N.R. D'Amore, N. Bhardwaj, C.V. Rothlin, A. Wolf, R. Flores, T. Marron, A.H. Rahman, E. Kenigsberg, B.D. Brown, and M. Merad. 2020. A conserved dendritic-cell regulatory program limits antitumour immunity. *Nature* 580:257-262.
- Malchow, S., D.S. Leventhal, V. Lee, S. Nishi, N.D. Socci, and P.A. Savage. 2016. Aire Enforces Immune Tolerance by Directing Autoreactive T Cells into the Regulatory T Cell Lineage. *Immunity* 44:1102-1113.
- Malhotra, D., J.L. Linehan, T. Dileepan, Y.J. Lee, W.E. Purtha, J.V. Lu, R.W. Nelson, B.T. Fife, H.T. Orr, M.S. Anderson, K.A. Hogquist, and M.K. Jenkins. 2016. Tolerance is established in polyclonal CD4(+) T cells by distinct mechanisms, according to self-peptide expression patterns. *Nat Immunol* 17:187-195.
- Matteoli, G., E. Mazzini, I.D. Iliev, E. Mileti, F. Fallarino, P. Puccetti, M. Chieppa, and M. Rescigno. 2010. Gut CD103+ dendritic cells express indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase which influences T regulatory/T effector cell balance and oral tolerance induction. *Gut* 59:595-604.
- Mazzini, E., L. Massimiliano, G. Penna, and M. Rescigno. 2014. Oral Tolerance Can Be Established via Gap Junction Transfer of Fed Antigens from CX3CR1(+) Macrophages to CD103(+) Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* 40:248-261.
- McDole, J.R., L.W. Wheeler, K.G. McDonald, B. Wang, V. Konjufca, K.A. Knoop, R.D. Newberry, and M.J. Miller. 2012. Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. *Nature* 483:345-349.
- Melo-Gonzalez, F., H. Kammoun, E. Evren, E.E. Dutton, M. Papadopoulou, B.M. Bradford, C. Tanes, F. Fardus-Reid, J.R. Swann, K. Bittinger, N.A. Mabbott, B.A. Vallance, T. Willinger, D.R. Withers, and M.R. Hepworth. 2019. Antigen-presenting ILC3 regulate T cell-dependent IgA responses to colonic mucosal bacteria. J Exp Med 216:728-742.
- Meredith, M., D. Zemmour, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2015. Aire controls gene expression in the thymic epithelium with ordered stochasticity. *Nat Immunol* 16:942-949.
- Michelson, D.A., K. Hase, T. Kaisho, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2022. Thymic epithelial cells co-opt lineage-defining transcription factors to eliminate autoreactive T cells. *Cell* 185:2542-2558.e2518.
- Miller, C.N., I. Proekt, J. von Moltke, K.L. Wells, A.R. Rajpurkar, H. Wang, K. Rattay, I.S. Khan, T.C. Metzger, J.L. Pollack, A.C. Fries, W.W. Lwin, E.J. Wigton, A.V. Parent, B. Kyewski, D.J. Erle, K.A. Hogquist, L.M. Steinmetz, R.M. Locksley, and M.S. Anderson. 2018. Thymic tuft cells promote an IL-4-enriched medulla and shape thymocyte development. *Nature* 559:627-631.
- Morgan, X.C., T.L. Tickle, H. Sokol, D. Gevers, K.L. Devaney, D.V. Ward, J.A. Reyes, S.A. Shah, N. LeLeiko, S.B. Snapper, A. Bousvaros, J. Korzenik, B.E. Sands, R.J. Xavier, and C.

Huttenhower. 2012. Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. *Genome Biol* 13:R79.

- Mottet, C., H.H. Uhlig, and F. Powrie. 2003. Cutting edge: cure of colitis by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 170:3939-3943.
- Mowat, A.M., and W.W. Agace. 2014. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 14:667-685.
- Mueller, N.T., E. Bakacs, J. Combellick, Z. Grigoryan, and M.G. Dominguez-Bello. 2015. The infant microbiome development: mom matters. *Trends Mol Med* 21:109-117.
- Mörbe, U.M., P.B. Jørgensen, T.M. Fenton, N. von Burg, L.B. Riis, J. Spencer, and W.W. Agace. 2021. Human gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT); diversity, structure, and function. *Mucosal Immunol* 14:793-802.
- Nagamine, K., P. Peterson, H.S. Scott, J. Kudoh, S. Minoshima, M. Heino, K.J. Krohn, M.D. Lalioti, P.E. Mullis, S.E. Antonarakis, K. Kawasaki, S. Asakawa, F. Ito, and N. Shimizu. 1997. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* 17:393-398.
- Nedjic, J., M. Aichinger, J. Emmerich, N. Mizushima, and L. Klein. 2008. Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455:396-400.
- Niess, J.H., S. Brand, X. Gu, L. Landsman, S. Jung, B.A. McCormick, J.M. Vyas, M. Boes, H.L. Ploegh, J.G. Fox, D.R. Littman, and H.C. Reinecker. 2005. CX3CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. *Science* 307:254-258.
- Ohnmacht, C., J.H. Park, S. Cording, J.B. Wing, K. Atarashi, Y. Obata, V. Gaboriau-Routhiau, R. Marques, S. Dulauroy, M. Fedoseeva, M. Busslinger, N. Cerf-Bensussan, I.G. Boneca, D. Voehringer, K. Hase, K. Honda, S. Sakaguchi, and G. Eberl. 2015. The microbiota regulates type 2 immunity through ROR gamma t(+) T cells. *Science* 349:989-993.
- Ohsaki, A., N. Venturelli, T.M. Buccigrosso, S.K. Osganian, J. Lee, R.S. Blumberg, and M.K. Oyoshi. 2018. Maternal IgG immune complexes induce food allergen-specific tolerance in offspring. J Exp Med 215:91-113.
- Panea, C., A.M. Farkas, Y. Goto, S. Abdollahi-Roodsaz, C. Lee, B. Koscso, K. Gowda, T.M. Hohl, M. Bogunovic, and Ivanov, II. 2015. Intestinal Monocyte-Derived Macrophages Control Commensal-Specific Th17 Responses. *Cell Reports* 12:1314-1324.
- Park, J.E., R.A. Botting, C. Domínguez Conde, D.M. Popescu, M. Lavaert, D.J. Kunz, I. Goh, E. Stephenson, R. Ragazzini, E. Tuck, A. Wilbrey-Clark, K. Roberts, V.R. Kedlian, J.R. Ferdinand, X. He, S. Webb, D. Maunder, N. Vandamme, K.T. Mahbubani, K. Polanski, L. Mamanova, L. Bolt, D. Crossland, F. de Rita, A. Fuller, A. Filby, G. Reynolds, D. Dixon, K. Saeb-Parsy, S. Lisgo, D. Henderson, R. Vento-Tormo, O.A. Bayraktar, R.A. Barker, K.B. Meyer, Y. Saeys, P. Bonfanti, S. Behjati, M.R. Clatworthy, T. Taghon, M. Haniffa, and S.A. Teichmann. 2020. A cell atlas of human thymic development defines T cell repertoire formation. *Science* 367:
- Pascal, V., M. Pozuelo, N. Borruel, F. Casellas, D. Campos, A. Santiago, X. Martinez, E. Varela, G. Sarrabayrouse, K. Machiels, S. Vermeire, H. Sokol, F. Guarner, and C. Manichanh. 2017. A microbial signature for Crohn's disease. *Gut* 66:813-822.
- Perheentupa, J. 2006. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:2843-2850.
- Perrier, C., and B. Corthésy. 2011. Gut permeability and food allergies. Clin Exp Allergy 41:20-28.
- Perry, J.S.A., C.W.J. Lio, A.L. Kau, K. Nutsch, Z. Yang, J.I. Gordon, K.M. Murphy, and C.S. Hsieh. 2014. Distinct Contributions of Aire and Antigen-Presenting-Cell Subsets to the Generation of Self-Tolerance in the Thymus. *Immunity* 41:414-426.
- Perry, J.S.A., E.V. Russler-Germain, Y.W. Zhou, W. Purtha, M.L. Cooper, J. Choi, M.A. Schroeder, V. Salazar, T. Egawa, B.C. Lee, N.A. Abumrad, B.S. Kim, M.S. Anderson, J.F. DiPersio, and C.S. Hsieh. 2018. Transfer of Cell-Surface Antigens by Scavenger Receptor CD36 Promotes Thymic Regulatory T Cell Receptor Repertoire Development and Allo-tolerance. *Immunity* 48:1271.
- Petnicki-Ocwieja, T., T. Hrncir, Y.J. Liu, A. Biswas, T. Hudcovic, H. Tlaskalova-Hogenova, and K.S. Kobayashi. 2009. Nod2 is required for the regulation of commensal microbiota in the intestine. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106:15813-15818.

- Pratama, A., A. Schnell, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2020. Developmental and cellular age direct conversion of CD4+ T cells into RORγ+ or Helios+ colon Treg cells. *J Exp Med* 217:
- Raetz, M., S.H. Hwang, C.L. Wilhelm, D. Kirkland, A. Benson, C.R. Sturge, J. Mirpuri, S. Vaishnava, B. Hou, A.L. Defranco, C.J. Gilpin, L.V. Hooper, and F. Yarovinsky. 2013. Parasite-induced TH1 cells and intestinal dysbiosis cooperate in IFN-γ-dependent elimination of Paneth cells. *Nat Immunol* 14:136-142.
- Ramanan, D., E. Sefik, S. Galván-Peña, M. Wu, L. Yang, Z. Yang, A. Kostic, T.V. Golovkina, D.L. Kasper, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2020. An Immunologic Mode of Multigenerational Transmission Governs a Gut Treg Setpoint. *Cell* 181:1276-1290.e1213.
- Ramos, G.P., and K.A. Papadakis. 2019. Mechanisms of Disease: Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Mayo Clin Proc* 94:155-165.
- Reizis, B., J. Idoyaga, M. Dalod, F. Barrat, S. Naik, G. Trinchieri, R. Tussiwand, M. Cella, and M. Colonna. 2023. Reclassification of plasmacytoid dendritic cells as innate lymphocytes is premature. *Nat Rev Immunol*
- Relland, L.M., M.K. Mishra, D. Haribhai, B. Edwards, J. Ziegelbauer, and C.B. Williams. 2009. Affinity-based selection of regulatory T cells occurs independent of agonist-mediated induction of Foxp3 expression. *J Immunol* 182:1341-1350.
- Rescigno, M., M. Urbano, B. Valzasina, M. Francolini, G. Rotta, R. Bonasio, F. Granucci, J.P. Kraehenbuhl, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 2001. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nature Immunology* 2:361-367.
- Rey, J., N. Garin, F. Spertini, and B. Corthésy. 2004. Targeting of secretory IgA to Peyer's patch dendritic and T cells after transport by intestinal M cells. *J Immunol* 172:3026-3033.
- Rios, D., M.B. Wood, J. Li, B. Chassaing, A.T. Gewirtz, and I.R. Williams. 2016. Antigen sampling by intestinal M cells is the principal pathway initiating mucosal IgA production to commensal enteric bacteria. *Mucosal Immunol* 9:907-916.
- Rivera, C.A., V. Randrian, W. Richer, Y. Gerber-Ferder, M.G. Delgado, A.S. Chikina, A. Frede, C. Sorini, M. Maurin, H. Kammoun-Chaari, S.M. Parigi, C. Goudot, M. Cabeza-Cabrerizo, S. Baulande, S. Lameiras, P. Guermonprez, C. Reis e Sousa, M. Lecuit, H.D. Moreau, J. Helft, D.M. Vignjevic, E.J. Villablanca, and A.M. Lennon-Duménil. 2022. Epithelial colonization by gut dendritic cells promotes their functional diversification. *Immunity* 55:129-144.e128.
- Rumio, C., M. Sommariva, L. Sfondrini, M. Palazzo, D. Morelli, L. Vigano, L. De Cecco, E. Tagliabue, and A. Balsari. 2012. Induction of Paneth cell degranulation by orally administered Toll-like receptor ligands. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 227:1107-1113.
- Russler-Germain, E.V., J. Jung, A.T. Miller, S. Young, J. Yi, A. Wehmeier, L.E. Fox, K.J. Monte, J.N. Chai, D.H. Kulkarni, L.J. Funkhouser-Jones, G. Wilke, V. Durai, B.H. Zinselmeyer, R.S. Czepielewski, S. Greco, K.M. Murphy, R.D. Newberry, L.D. Sibley, and C.S. Hsieh. 2021. Commensal Cryptosporidium colonization elicits a cDC1-dependent Th1 response that promotes intestinal homeostasis and limits other infections. *Immunity* 54:2547-2564.e2547.
- Rynda, A., M. Maddaloni, D. Mierzejewska, J. Ochoa-Repáraz, T. Maslanka, K. Crist, C. Riccardi, B. Barszczewska, K. Fujihashi, J.R. McGhee, and D.W. Pascual. 2008. Low-dose tolerance is mediated by the microfold cell ligand, reovirus protein sigma1. *J Immunol* 180:5187-5200.
- Salzman, N.H., K. Hung, D. Haribhai, H. Chu, J. Karlsson-Sjöberg, E. Amir, P. Teggatz, M. Barman, M. Hayward, D. Eastwood, M. Stoel, Y. Zhou, E. Sodergren, G.M. Weinstock, C.L. Bevins, C.B. Williams, and N.A. Bos. 2010. Enteric defensins are essential regulators of intestinal microbial ecology. *Nat Immunol* 11:76-83.
- Sano, T., W.D. Huang, J.A. Hall, Y. Yang, A. Chen, S.J. Gavzy, J.Y. Lee, J.W. Ziel, E.R. Miraldi, A.I. Domingos, R. Bonneau, and D.R. Littman. 2015. An IL-23R/IL-22 Circuit Regulates Epithelial Serum Amyloid A to Promote Local Effector Th17 Responses. *Cell* 163:381-393.
- Sano, T., T. Kageyama, V. Fang, R. Kedmi, C.S. Martinez, J. Talbot, A. Chen, I. Cabrera, O. Gorshko, R. Kurakake, Y. Yang, C. Ng, S.R. Schwab, and D.R. Littman. 2021. Redundant cytokine requirement for intestinal microbiota-induced Th17 cell differentiation in draining lymph nodes. *Cell Rep* 36:109608.
- Schaubeck, M., T. Clavel, J. Calasan, I. Lagkouvardos, S.B. Haange, N. Jehmlich, M. Basic, A. Dupont, M. Hornef, M. von Bergen, A. Bleich, and D. Haller. 2016. Dysbiotic gut microbiota causes

transmissible Crohn's disease-like ileitis independent of failure in antimicrobial defence. *Gut* 65:225-237.

- Schulz, O., E. Jaensson, E.K. Persson, X. Liu, T. Worbs, W.W. Agace, and O. Pabst. 2009. Intestinal CD103+, but not CX3CR1+, antigen sampling cells migrate in lymph and serve classical dendritic cell functions. J Exp Med 206:3101-3114.
- Schwarzer, M., U.K. Gautam, K. Makki, A. Lambert, T. Brabec, A. Joly, D. Šrůtková, P. Poinsot, T. Novotná, S. Geoffroy, P. Courtin, P.P. Hermanová, R.C. Matos, J.J.M. Landry, C. Gérard, A.L. Bulteau, T. Hudcovic, H. Kozáková, D. Filipp, M.P. Chapot-Chartier, M. Šinkora, N. Peretti, I.G. Boneca, M. Chamaillard, H. Vidal, F. De Vadder, and F. Leulier. 2023. Microbe-mediated intestinal NOD2 stimulation improves linear growth of undernourished infant mice. *Science* 379:826-833.
- Sefik, E., N. Geva-Zatorsky, S. Oh, L. Konnikova, D. Zemmour, A.M. McGuire, D. Burzyn, A. Ortiz-Lopez, M. Lobera, J. Yang, S. Ghosh, A. Earl, S.B. Snapper, R. Jupp, D. Kasper, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2015. Individual intestinal symbionts induce a distinct population of ROR gamma(+) regulatory T cells. *Science* 349:993-997.
- Shan, M., M. Gentile, J.R. Yeiser, A.C. Walland, V.U. Bornstein, K. Chen, B. He, L. Cassis, A. Bigas, M. Cols, L. Comerma, B. Huang, J.M. Blander, H. Xiong, L. Mayer, C. Berin, L.H. Augenlicht, A. Velcich, and A. Cerutti. 2013. Mucus enhances gut homeostasis and oral tolerance by delivering immunoregulatory signals. *Science* 342:447-453.
- Shevach, E.M. 2009. Mechanisms of foxp3+ T regulatory cell-mediated suppression. *Immunity* 30:636-645.
- Shih, V.F.S., J. Cox, N.M. Kljavin, H.S. Dengler, M. Reichelt, P. Kumar, L. Rangell, J.K. Kolls, L. Diehl, W.J. Ouyang, and N. Ghilardi. 2014. Homeostatic IL-23 receptor signaling limits Th17 response through IL-22-mediated containment of commensal microbiota. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111:13942-13947.
- Shreffler, W.G., R.R. Castro, Z.Y. Kucuk, Z. Charlop-Powers, G. Grishina, S. Yoo, A.W. Burks, and H.A. Sampson. 2006. The major glycoprotein allergen from Arachis hypogaea, Ara h 1, is a ligand of dendritic cell-specific ICAM-grabbing nonintegrin and acts as a Th2 adjuvant in vitro. *J Immunol* 177:3677-3685.
- Simons, D.M., C.C. Picca, S. Oh, O.A. Perng, M. Aitken, J. Erikson, and A.J. Caton. 2010. How specificity for self-peptides shapes the development and function of regulatory T cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 88:1099-1107.
- Sköld, M., and S.M. Behar. 2003. Role of CD1d-restricted NKT cells in microbial immunity. *Infect Immun* 71:5447-5455.
- Snoeck, V., B. Goddeeris, and E. Cox. 2005. The role of enterocytes in the intestinal barrier function and antigen uptake. *Microbes Infect* 7:997-1004.
- Spahn, T.W., H.L. Weiner, P.D. Rennert, N. Lügering, A. Fontana, W. Domschke, and T. Kucharzik. 2002. Mesenteric lymph nodes are critical for the induction of high-dose oral tolerance in the absence of Peyer's patches. *Eur J Immunol* 32:1109-1113.
- Sun, C.M., J.A. Hall, R.B. Blank, N. Bouladoux, M. Oukka, J.R. Mora, and Y. Belkaid. 2007. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 204:1775-1785.
- Surh, C.D., and J. Sprent. 1994. T-cell apoptosis detected in situ during positive and negative selection in the thymus. *Nature* 372:100-103.
- Suzuki, H., S. Sekine, K. Kataoka, D.W. Pascual, M. Maddaloni, R. Kobayashi, K. Fujihashi, H. Kozono, and J.R. McGhee. 2008. Ovalbumin-protein sigma 1 M-cell targeting facilitates oral tolerance with reduction of antigen-specific CD4+ T cells. *Gastroenterology* 135:917-925.
- Suzuki, K., B. Meek, Y. Doi, M. Muramatsu, T. Chiba, T. Honjo, and S. Fagarasan. 2004. Aberrant expansion of segmented filamentous bacteria in IgA-deficient gut. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101:1981-1986.
- Talham, G.L., H.Q. Jiang, N.A. Bos, and J.J. Cebra. 1999. Segmented filamentous bacteria are potent stimuli of a physiologically normal state of the murine gut mucosal immune system. *Infect Immun* 67:1992-2000.
- Taylor, R.T., S.R. Patel, E. Lin, B.R. Butler, J.G. Lake, R.D. Newberry, and I.R. Williams. 2007. Lymphotoxin-independent expression of TNF-related activation-induced cytokine by stromal

cells in cryptopatches, isolated lymphoid follicles, and Peyer's patches. *J Immunol* 178:5659-5667.

- Ueno, T., F. Saito, D.H. Gray, S. Kuse, K. Hieshima, H. Nakano, T. Kakiuchi, M. Lipp, R.L. Boyd, and Y. Takahama. 2004. CCR7 signals are essential for cortex-medulla migration of developing thymocytes. *J Exp Med* 200:493-505.
- Umesaki, Y., H. Setoyama, S. Matsumoto, A. Imaoka, and K. Itoh. 1999. Differential roles of segmented filamentous bacteria and clostridia in development of the intestinal immune system. *Infect Immun* 67:3504-3511.
- Vaishnava, S., M. Yamamoto, K.M. Severson, K.A. Ruhn, X. Yu, O. Koren, R. Ley, E.K. Wakeland, and L.V. Hooper. 2011. The antibacterial lectin RegIIIgamma promotes the spatial segregation of microbiota and host in the intestine. *Science* 334:255-258.
- Van Houten, N., and S.F. Blake. 1996. Direct measurement of anergy of antigen-specific T cells following oral tolerance induction. *J Immunol* 157:1337-1341.
- Verbrugghe, P., W. Waelput, B. Dieriks, A. Waeytens, J. Vandesompele, and C.A. Cuvelier. 2006. Murine M cells express annexin V specifically. *J Pathol* 209:240-249.
- Vobořil, M., T. Brabec, J. Dobeš, I. Šplíchalová, J. Březina, A. Čepková, M. Dobešová, A. Aidarova, J. Kubovčiak, O. Tsyklauri, O. Štěpánek, V. Beneš, R. Sedláček, L. Klein, M. Kolář, and D. Filipp. 2020. Toll-like receptor signaling in thymic epithelium controls monocyte-derived dendritic cell recruitment and Treg generation. *Nat Commun* 11:2361.
- Vobořil, M., J. Březina, T. Brabec, J. Dobeš, O. Ballek, M. Dobešová, J. Manning, R.S. Blumberg, and D. Filipp. 2022. A model of preferential pairing between epithelial and dendritic cells in thymic antigen transfer. *Elife* 11:
- Vollmann, E.H., K. Rattay, O. Barreiro, A. Thiriot, R.A. Fuhlbrigge, V. Vrbanac, K.W. Kim, S. Jung, A.M. Tager, and U.H. von Andrian. 2021. Specialized transendothelial dendritic cells mediate thymic T-cell selection against blood-borne macromolecules. *Nat Commun* 12:6230.
- Wambre, E., and D. Jeong. 2018. Oral Tolerance Development and Maintenance. *Immunol Allergy Clin* North Am 38:27-37.
- Wang, H., E.R. Breed, Y.J. Lee, L.J. Qian, S.C. Jameson, and K.A. Hogquist. 2019. Myeloid cells activate iNKT cells to produce IL-4 in the thymic medulla. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 116:22262-22268.
- Wang, Y., M.A. Su, and Y.Y. Wan. 2011. An essential role of the transcription factor GATA-3 for the function of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* 35:337-348.
- Wehkamp, J., N.H. Salzman, E. Porter, S. Nuding, M. Weichenthal, R.E. Petras, B. Shen, E. Schaeffeler, M. Schwab, R. Linzmeier, R.W. Feathers, H. Chu, H. Lima, K. Fellermann, T. Ganz, E.F. Stange, and C.L. Bevins. 2005. Reduced Paneth cell alpha-defensins in ileal Crohn's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:18129-18134.
- Weiss, J.M., A.M. Bilate, M. Gobert, Y. Ding, M.A. Curotto de Lafaille, C.N. Parkhurst, H. Xiong, J. Dolpady, A.B. Frey, M.G. Ruocco, Y. Yang, S. Floess, J. Huehn, S. Oh, M.O. Li, R.E. Niec, A.Y. Rudensky, M.L. Dustin, D.R. Littman, and J.J. Lafaille. 2012. Neuropilin 1 is expressed on thymus-derived natural regulatory T cells, but not mucosa-generated induced Foxp3+ T reg cells. *J Exp Med* 209:1723-1742, S1721.
- Wells, H.G., and T.B. Osborne. 1911. The Biological Reactions of the Vegetable Proteins I. Anaphylaxis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 8:66-124.
- Welty, N.E., C. Staley, N. Ghilardi, M.J. Sadowsky, B.Z. Igyártó, and D.H. Kaplan. 2013. Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cells maintain T cell homeostasis but do not affect commensalism. J Exp Med 210:2011-2024.
- Wendland, M., N. Czeloth, N. Mach, B. Malissen, E. Kremmer, O. Pabst, and R. Förster. 2007. CCR9 is a homing receptor for plasmacytoid dendritic cells to the small intestine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 104:6347-6352.
- Wildin, R.S., F. Ramsdell, J. Peake, F. Faravelli, J.L. Casanova, N. Buist, E. Levy-Lahad, M. Mazzella, O. Goulet, L. Perroni, F.D. Bricarelli, G. Byrne, M. McEuen, S. Proll, M. Appleby, and M.E. Brunkow. 2001. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. *Nat Genet* 27:18-20.

- Wildin, R.S., S. Smyk-Pearson, and A.H. Filipovich. 2002. Clinical and molecular features of the immunodysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X linked (IPEX) syndrome. J Med Genet 39:537-545.
- Witt, C.M., S. Raychaudhuri, B. Schaefer, A.K. Chakraborty, and E.A. Robey. 2005. Directed migration of positively selected thymocytes visualized in real time. *PLoS Biol* 3:e160.
- Wohlfert, E.A., J.R. Grainger, N. Bouladoux, J.E. Konkel, G. Oldenhove, C.H. Ribeiro, J.A. Hall, R. Yagi, S. Naik, R. Bhairavabhotla, W.E. Paul, R. Bosselut, G. Wei, K.J. Zhao, M. Oukka, J.F. Zhu, and Y. Belkaid. 2011. GATA3 controls Foxp3(+) regulatory T cell fate during inflammation in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121:4503-4515.
- Worbs, T., U. Bode, S. Yan, M.W. Hoffmann, G. Hintzen, G. Bernhardt, R. Förster, and O. Pabst. 2006. Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 203:519-527.
- Worthington, J.J., B.I. Czajkowska, A.C. Melton, and M.A. Travis. 2011a. Intestinal dendritic cells specialize to activate transforming growth factor-β and induce Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via integrin αvβ8. *Gastroenterology* 141:1802-1812.
- Worthington, J.J., J.E. Klementowicz, and M.A. Travis. 2011b. TGFβ: a sleeping giant awoken by integrins. *Trends Biochem Sci* 36:47-54.
- Wu, C., M. Aichinger, J. Nedjic, and L. Klein. 2013. Thymic epithelial cells use macroautophagy to turn their inside out for CD4 T cell tolerance. *Autophagy* 9:931-932.
- Xu, M., M. Pokrovskii, Y. Ding, R. Yi, C. Au, O.J. Harrison, C. Galan, Y. Belkaid, R. Bonneau, and D.R. Littman. 2018. c-MAF-dependent regulatory T cells mediate immunological tolerance to a gut pathobiont. *Nature* 554:373-377.
- Yamano, T., J. Dobeš, M. Vobořil, M. Steinert, T. Brabec, N. Ziętara, M. Dobešová, C. Ohnmacht, M. Laan, P. Peterson, V. Benes, R. Sedláček, R. Hanayama, M. Kolář, L. Klein, and D. Filipp. 2019. Aire-expressing ILC3-like cells in the lymph node display potent APC features. J Exp Med 216:1027-1037.
- Yang, S., N. Fujikado, D. Kolodin, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2015. Immune tolerance. Regulatory T cells generated early in life play a distinct role in maintaining self-tolerance. *Science* 348:589-594.
- Yu, M., H. Wang, A. Ding, D.T. Golenbock, E. Latz, C.J. Czura, M.J. Fenton, K.J. Tracey, and H. Yang. 2006. HMGB1 signals through toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and TLR2. *Shock* 26:174-179.
- Zegarra-Ruiz, D.F., D.V. Kim, K. Norwood, M. Kim, W.H. Wu, F.B. Saldana-Morales, A.A. Hill, S. Majumdar, S. Orozco, R. Bell, J.L. Round, R.S. Longman, T. Egawa, M.L. Bettini, and G.E. Diehl. 2021. Thymic development of gut-microbiota-specific T cells. *Nature* 594:413-417.
- Zhao, W., H.E. Ho, and S. Bunyavanich. 2019. The gut microbiome in food allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 122:276-282.
- Zhao, X., A. Sato, C.S. Dela Cruz, M. Linehan, A. Luegering, T. Kucharzik, A.K. Shirakawa, G. Marquez, J.M. Farber, I. Williams, and A. Iwasaki. 2003. CCL9 is secreted by the follicle-associated epithelium and recruits dome region Peyer's patch CD11b+ dendritic cells. J Immunol 171:2797-2803.
- Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., T. Ohteki, F. Ginhoux, K. Shortman, and H. Spits. 2023a. Reclassifying plasmacytoid dendritic cells as innate lymphocytes. *Nat Rev Immunol* 23:1-2.
- Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., T. Ohteki, F. Ginhoux, K. Shortman, and H. Spits. 2023b. Reply to 'Reclassification of plasmacytoid dendritic cells as innate lymphocytes is premature'. *Nat Rev Immunol*